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ELIZABETH, as has been already hinted, had a great 
purpose in view, when she concluded this league and 
sent Archibald Douglas into Scotland. Two months 
before, her indefatigable minister, Walsingham, had 
detected that fa3mous conspiracy known by the namc 
of c c  Babington'a plot," in which Mary was implicated, 
and for which she afterwards suffered. It had been 
resolved by Leicester, Burghley, and Walsingham, 
and probably bp the Queen herself. that this should 
he the last plot of the Scottish Queen and the Ro- 
man Catholic faction ; that the time had come when 
sufferance was criminal and weak ; that the life of 
the unfortunate, but still active and formidable cap- 
tive, was inconsistent with Elizabeth's safety and t,he 
liberty of the realm. Hence the importance attached 
to this league, which bound the' two kirigdonls to- 
gether, in a treaty offensive and defensive, for the 
protection of t8he Protestailt faith, and separated the 
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young King from his mother. Henze the eagerness 
for the return and pardon of Archibald Douglas, who 
had sold himself to Elizabeth, betrayed the secrets of 
Mary, and no~v offered his influence over Janles to 
be employed in fr~rthering this great design for her 
clestrnctioa. 

It is now necessary to enter up011 thc history of this 
plot, and Mary's alleged connexion with it,-one of the 
most involved and intricate portions in the history of 
the two countries. To be clear, and prevent the mind 
from getting entangled in the inextricable meshes of 
Walsingham and his inforiilers, it will be proper 
for a moment to look back. Ma'ry had now bee11 
nineteen years a captive ; and, upon the cruelty and 
illeg~lity of her imprisonmelit during this long and 
dreary period, there can be but one opinion. Shc 
was seized and imprisoned during a time of peace ; 
contra,ry to every feeling of generosity, and in flagrant 
violation of every principle of law and justice. On 
the one hand, it was the right and the duty of snclt 
a prisoner to attempt every possible means for her 
escape; on the other, it was both natural ancl just 
that the Catholic party, in England and Scotlaad, 
should have combined with France and S p i n  to 
deliver her from her captivity, and awn@ upon 
Elizabeth such an outrage on the law of nations as  
the seizure of a free Princess. But the same party 
regarded Elizabeth as a heretic, whose ~vholc life hacl 
been obstinately opposed to the truth. Some of 
them went so far as to consider her an illegitimate 
usurper, whose throne belonged to  the Queen of ScotPc 
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'Chey had plotted, tliereforc, not only for J f a ry '~  
clcliverance, but for the reGstablisliment of their own 
faith in England, and for Elizabeth's deposition; 
nay, some of them, mistaking fanaticism for religion, 
a,gainst Elizabeth's life. All these conspiracies con- 
tinued more or less during the ~vhole period of Mary's 
~a~ptivity, and had been detected by the vigilance of 
Elizabeth's ministers, acting through the system of 
private spies ; one of the most revolting features of an 
age which regarded craft and treachery as necessary 
parts of political wisdom. With all these plots, the 
Queen of Scots had been in some degree either 
directly or indirectly connected : her rival felt 
acutely (and such a feeling was the retributive 
punishment of the wrong she had committed) the 
miseiy of keeping so dangerous a prisoner ; but up 
.to this time, there seems to have been no allegation 
that Mary wss implicated in anything affecting Eliza- 
beth's life, anything more, in short, than a series of 
plots continued a t  different times for her own escape. 
Nor did Elizabeth very highly resent them. So far 
at least from adopting the extreme measures to whicli 
she had been advised by many of her councillors, shc 
had repeatedly entered into negotiations with her 
royal captive, in whicli she held out the hope of he]. 
liberty on the one hand; whilst Mary, on the other, 
promised not only to forsake all connexion with pub- 
lic affairs, and leave the government to  her son, but 
to  impart to her good sister the most valuable secret 
information. These scenes had been so repeatedly 
hegun, and repeatedly broken off, that they had be- 



come alniost matters of yearly fonn. 011 both side$ 
in all this, there was probably illuch suspicion and 
insincerity; but chiefly on the part of Elizabeth : 
for Mary, at  last sinking under the sorrows of so 
long a captivity, and worn out by deferred hope, 
bscaine ready to  pAy the highest price for freedom ; 
to give up the world, to sink into private life, to  
sacrifice all except her religion, and her title to the 
throne. I t  was on this principle, that she was ready 
to enter into that agreement with her son alreacly 
alluded to, and known by the name of "the Associ- 
ation." By the terlna of this, James was to continue 
Icing; his mother resigning her right into his hands, 
and taking up her residence, with an allowance 
according to her rank, either in England or Scotland. 
Elizabeth, to whom the ~vllole design was communi- 
cated, and who was included as a party to the treaty, 
was to release the Scottish Queen, resume with her 
the friendly relations which had been so often broker) 
off, and receive, in return, such general good advice, 
and such secret revelations, as Mary could give con- 
sistently with fidelity to her friends. 

Now, a t  the very time when this association 
seemed to be concluded ; when the hopes of the un- 
happy captive were at  the highest; when she was 
looking forward to her liberty with the delight 
" which the opening of the prison brings to them that 
:we bound," the cup, for the hundredth time, was 
(1:~shed from her lips. Throckmorton's treason oc- 
cnrred; a plot still involved in great obscurity. 
I'nrrfs conspiracy, also, took place, which inclnclccl 
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an  attempt against the life of the English Queen ; and 
the covenant, or "association," for the defence of Eliza- 
beth's person, was concluded a t  the urgent instance 
of Leicester, by which "men of all degrees through- 
out England bound themselves, by mutual vows a'nd 
subscriptions, to  prosecute t o  the death all who 
should directly or indirectly attempt anything against 
their Sovereign." It was in vain that Mary dis- 
claimed all connexion with these plots, affirming 
passionately, and apparently sincerely, that it would 
be cruel to hold her responsible for all the wild 

-:a.ttempts of the Roman Catholic faction wlio pro- 
fessed to be her friends, but did not inform her of 
their proceedings; in vain, that she offered to sign 
-the Association for Elizabeth's safety, and act upon 
it as if she were her dearest sister. She was met 
by a cold refusal; the treaty for her freedom was 

abandoned; the Master of Gray, and Archibald 
Douglas, men whom she had implicitly trusted, were 
bribed to betray her most private t.ransactions ; and, 
as the last and bitterest ingredient in her misery, her 
own son broke off all intercourse with her, threw 
himself into the arms of the English Queen, and, by 
the " League" which we have just seen concluded, 
became the sworn pensioner of her enemy, and the 
avowed persecutor of that religion which she firmly 
believed to be the truth. Are we to wonder that,under 
such circumstances, she renounced her promises to 
Elizabeth, and, as a last resource, encouraged the 
Roman Catholics to resume their projects for the 
inrasion of England, her delivery from captivity, and 
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the restoration-of what she believed the ollly true 
Church ? 

It is certain, that two years before this, in 1584, she 
had been cognizant of Throckmorton's plot already al- 
luded to, and got up by the English Catholic refugees 
in Spain and France for the invasion of England, the 
dethronement of Elizabeth, and her own delivery. 
One of the principal managers of this conspiracy was 
Thomas Morgan, a devoted Catholic, Mary's agent 
on the continent, a man deeply attached to her inter- 
ests, and who had been long trained in the school of 
political intrigue. The rest were Francis Throck- 
morton, who suffered for it ; Thomas, Lord Paget ; 
Charles Arundel, who fled to France ; and some 
others. I t  is extremely difficult to discover what 
portion of the plot was real, and what fictitious; 
but that schemes were in agitation against Elizabeth, 
in which the Spanish Ambassador, Mendoza, parti- 
cipated, and with which Mary was well acquainted, 
cannot be doubted. So clear did her servant Mor- 
gall's guilt appear to the King of France, in whose- 
dominions he then resided, that although he refuse& 
to deliver him up as Elizabeth required, he threw him 
into prison, sent his papers to England, and treated 
him with much severity. Even in this durance, he 
managed to continue his secret practices ; but Mary, 
who had now entered into negotiations with the 
Queen for her liberty, renounced, for a season, all 
political intrigue ; and the smouldering embers of the 
recent conspiracies were allowed to cool and burn 
out, she looked forward with sanguine  hop^ 
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to  her freedom. When, however, this hope was 
blasted; when she was removed from the gentler 
custody of the Earl of Shrewsbury to  the severer 
jailorship of Paulet ; l when she was haunted by re- 
ports of private assassination, and at last saw Eliza- 
beth and her son indissolubly leagued against her, 
she resumed her correspondence with Morgan, and 
welcomed every possible project, for her e s ~ a p e . ~  

At this time, Walsingham, the English Queen's 
principal Secretary, had brought the system of secret 
information to a state of high perfection, if we may 
use such an expression on the subject. The Queen 
of Scots, the French and Spanish Ambassadors, the 
English Roman Catholic refugees, were all surround- 
ed by his ~rea~tures, who insinuated themselves into 
their confidence, pretended to join their plots, drew 
them on to reveal their secrets, and carried all they 
knew to their employers. Amongst these base tools 
of Walsingllam, were Poley, a man who had found 
means to gxinthe ear andthe coiifidence of Morgan,and 
been employed by him in his secret correspondence 
with the Catholics of England and France ; Gilbert 
Gifford, a seminary priest of a good family in Staf- 
fordshire, who was also intrnsted by Morgan with 
his secrets; Maud, a sordid wretch, who pretendecl 
great zeal for the Catholic faith ; and some others. 

1 In  October, 1584, Mary was removed from the Caatle of 
Sheffield to Wingfield. I n  January, 1685-6, from Wingfield to 
Tutbury. In  January, 1586-7, from Tutbury to Cllartley. 

2 Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 501. 
a Mmdin, p. 400, BIorgan to  mar^ Ult. Martii, 1586. 
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He was also assisted by Thomas P'helipps, a persoil 
of extraordinary skill in detecting real, and concoct- 
ing false plots by forging imaginary letters, and of 
equal talent in discovering the key to the most diffi- 
cult and complicated ciphers. I11 his service, too, 
was one Gregory, who, by reiterated practice, had 
acquired the faculty of breaking and replacing seals 
with such nicety, that no eye could suspect the frac- 
ture.' By means of these agents \Valsingham, about 
the same time that the league had been concluded 
between Elizabeth and the King of Scots, discovered 
a conspiracy for the assassination of that Princess. 
Of this atrocious design, Ballard, a seminary priest, 
and Savage, an English officer who had served in the 
Eetherlands, were the principal movers; but Mor- 
gan, Marfs agent, uncloubtedly encouraged the plot, 
and drew into it some of the English Catholic refu- 
gees. At the same time, the former great project for 
the invasion of ~ngiancl, the dethronement of Eliza- 
beth, and the escape of Mary, was resumed by Spain, 
France, and the Scottish Queen's Catholic friends in 
England and Scotland ; and the captive Princess 
herself became engaged in a secret correspondence 
on this subject with Morgt~n, Charles Paget, Sir 
Francis Englefleld, aiid the French aiid Spanish 
Ambassadors. Here, then, were two plots simul- 
ta~leously carrying on;  and amongst the actors to 

1 RIS. St. P. Off., Orig. Cipher and Decipher, endorsed by Pile- 
lipps. Papers of Mary Queen of Scots. Pietro, 24thApril,1586, 
ancl Gilbert Gigorcl's Letter, deciphered by Curle. Pietro was one 
of the nanles by which Gilbert Giffortl was designated. 



296 IIISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 1586. 

tvhom the execution was intrusted, some persons 
were common to both,-that is, some were sworn to  
assist alike in the invasion and in the assassillation; 
others knew only of the design against the govern- 
ment, and had no knowledge of the darker purpose 
against Elizabeth. Amongst these last, up to a cer- 
tain date Ghich can be fixed, we lnust undoubtedly 
dasa the Scottish Queen. She was fully aware, and 
indeed was an active agent in the schemes which were 
in agitation for the invasion of the country, and her 
own deliverance ; l  but she was ignorant a t  first of 
any designs a,gainst the life of her e i~emy.~ Whether 
to  the last she remained so ignorant of all, has been 
ilisputed; but, in the mean time, the predicament in 
~vl i ic l~ she stood, as all must see, ~ v a s  one of extreme 
peril, and so the result proved. JValsingl~arn, through 
his spies, became acquainted with both plots; and 
his fertile and unscrupulous mind, assisted and 
yronlpted by such an instrunlent as Phelipps, pro- 
jected a scheme for iiivolving Mary in a knowledge 
of both, and thus drawing her on to her ruin. Such 
being the genera.1. design, let us now look more mi- 
nutely into the history and proceedings of the con- 
spirators. 

John Savage, a Roman Catholic gentleman, who 
had served in the wars of the Low Couiltries, becoin- 
iilg acquainted with some fanakical priests of the 
Jesuit seminary of Rheims, was induced, by their 

1 31s. St. P. Off., Morgan to Mary, a decipher in Phelipps' hand. 
Ult. Mrcrtii, 1586, printed in Murdin, p. 481. 

S Murdin, p. 527, Morgan to Mary, 4th July, 1586. 



arguments, to believe that the assassillation o'f the 
English Queen would be a meritorious action in the 
sight of God. They argued that the Papal bull; by 
which this Princess was excommunicated, was dic- 
tated by the Holy Spirit ; and that to slay any per- 
son thus anathematized must be accounted an act of 
faith, and not of murder. Savage, thus worked upon; 
took a solemiz vow that he would kill the Queen ; 
and prepared to return to England for the purpose? 
Previous to his departure, howevcr, John Ballard, a 
priest of the same seminary, and s busy agent of 
Morgan, returned to France, from a tour which he 
had made amongst the Catliolics of England and 
Scotland. The purpose of his mission thither had 
been to organize the plot for the invasion of Eng- 
land ; the object of his return was to confer upon 
the same subject with Mendoza the Spanish Ambas- 
sador, Charles Paget, and the other English Catholic 
refugees. Ballard was accompanied by ikiaud, the 
person already menbioiied as a spy of Walsingham, 
who had deceived Ballard and Morgan, by pretend- 
ing a great zeal for the Catholic cause ; and through 
this base person the English Secretary beca-me ac- 
quainted with all their pro~eedings.~ Paget being 
consulted, argued strongly that no invasion could 
succeed during the lifetime of Elizabeth ; end Bal- 
lard, assuining the disguise of a aoldier, and taking 

1 Carte, vol. iii. p. 601 ; and MS. Brit. Mus., Caligula, C. ix. 
fol. 290, Savage's Confession. 

2 Carte, 1-01. iii. p. 601. Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 515, 
Mmdin, p. 517, C'harles Paget to Mary, May f 9, 1586. 



295 HISTORY OF SCOTLAXD. 1586. 

the nanie of Captain Fortescue, or Foscue, came 
back to  England much about the same time as 
Savage, whose fell purpose Morgan had commmlicated 
to  him. 

Soon after his arrival, Ballard addressed himself 
t o  Anthony Babington, a young gentleman of largc 
fortune, and ancient Catholic family, in Derbyshire, 
who had before this shown great zeal and activity in 
the service of the Queen of Scots. This was known 
to  Ballard ; and he, therefore, confidently opened to 
him the great scheme for the invasion of England; 
explained the ardour with which it had been resumed 
by Morgai and the Scottish Queen; and exhorted 
him to second their efforts by every means in his 
power. Babington, it is certain, had been long 
warmly devoted to Mary. H e  had formed, when he 
was in France, an intimate friendship with Morgan ; 
had been introduced to Beaton the Bishop of Glas- 
gow, her Ambassador in that country ; and had re- 
turned to England with letters from both these per- 
sons, which strongly recommended hiin to the Scot- 
tish Queen. From this time, for the period of tyro 
years, he had continued to  supply her with secret 
intelligence, and to receive and convey her letters to 
her friends.' Latterly, however, all intercourse had 
been broken off; whether for some private cause, or 
on account of the greater strictness of Mary's con- 
finement, does not appear certain. This interrup- 
tion of Mary's colrespondence with Babington had, 
however, given distress to Morgan ; and nzoat unfor- 

IInrdwiclre's Papers, vol. i. p. 227. 



tunately, as it happened for the Scottish Queen, he 
had written t o  her, in urgent terms, on the 9th of 
May, 1586, advising her to renew her secret inter- 
course with him, and describing him as a gentleman 
on whose ability and high honour she might ha,ve the 
firmest reliance? 

On being sought out by Ballard, Babington evinced 
all his former eagerness for the service of the captive 
Queen ; but expressed strongly the same opinion as  
that already given by Charles Paget, that 110 inva- 
sion or rising in Enghnd could sncceed as long as  
Elizabeth lived. Ballard then communicated to  him 
Savage's purpose of assassination; adding, that the 
gentleman who had solemnly bound himself to  de- 
spatch that Princess was now in England. This 
revelation produced an inlmediate effect; a i d  Bab- 
ington expressed a decided opinion that the simul- 
taneous execution of both plots held out the fairest 
prospect of success. I t  would be dangerous, how- 
ever, he said, to intrust the assassinstioiz to only one 
hand: it might fail, and all would be lost. He sug- 
gested, therefore, an iml~rovement, by which the 
murder should be committed by six gentlemen of his 
acquaintance, of whom Savage should be one ; whilst 
he pointed out the best havens where foreign troops 
might be landed ; summed up the probable native 
force with which they were likely to  be joined; and 
demonstrated t,he surest plan for the escape of the 

1 Murdin, p. 513. Morgan to the Queen of Scots, SthMay, 1586, 
or old style, 29th April. Mary and her secretaries always fol- 
lowed tl~e Rom~n or new, Walsingham, Bnrghley, and Plielipps, 
the old ~tyle. 
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Scottish Queen? With all this Ballard was highly 
pleased; and from the time when the first meeting 
with Babington took place: he and Babington em- 
ployed themselves in discovering, amongst their 
acquaintance, such men as they deemed likely to  
engage in this albominable design. Three were soon 
procured to join with Savage. Their names were 
Abingdon, the son of the late cofferer of the Queen's 
household; Barnwell, who was connected with a 
noble family in Ireland; and Charnock, a Catholic 
gentleman in Lanca~hire .~ Some time after, the 
number of six was made up by the addition of Charles 
Tilney, one of the Queen's band of gentlemen pen- 
sioners; and Chidiock Titchbourne. Other gentle- 
men of their acquaintance were engaged to  assist in 
the project for the invasion, and the escape of Mary ; 
but the darker purpose of assassination was not re- 
vealed to them. 

During all this time, Mary, on account of the 
strictness of her confinement under Sir Amias Paulet, 
bad found it extremely difficult to continue her cor- 
respondence with her friends abroad; but she had 
never abandoned the project of the Spanish invasion : 
and on the 5th May, she addressed a letter to Charles 
Paget, giving minute directions regarding the likeliest 
inethod of succeeding in their commorl enterprise 

1 Murdin, p. 513. Morgan to the Queen of Scots, May 9, 1586 ; 
or old style, April 29, also, Canlden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 515. 

2 This period or interval cannot be precisely fixed. It seems 
£a have been between the 27th of May and the 25th June. 

Camden in ICennet, vol. ii. p. 516. 
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against Elizabeth. From this letter, which, though 
long, is highly interesting, some passages must be 
given. They develop the whole plot for the invasion 
of England, and exhibit a determination in her designs 
against Elizabeth, which, when known, (as they came 
to be by the interception of the letter,) could not fail 
to excite extreme resentment. 

" With an infinite number of other letters in 
cipher, (so she addressed Paget,) I received five of 
yours, dated the 14th January, 16th of May, and last 
of July 1585, and the 4th of February 1586. But, 
for their late arrival here, and all at  once, it hath 
not been possible for me to see them all deciphered. 
And I have been, since the departure from Wingfield? 
so wholly without all intelligence of foreign a%ffairs, 
as, not knowing the present state thereof, it is very 
difficile for me to establish any certain course for re- 
establishing the same on this side; and methinks I 
can see no other means to that end, except the King 
of Spainj now being pricked in his particular, by the 
attempt made on Holland, and the course of Drake, 
would take revenge against the Queen of England, 
whilst France, occupied as it is, cannot help her; 
whereof I desire that you should essay, either by the 
Lord Paget during his abode in Spain, or by the 
Spanish Ambassador, to discover clearly if the said 
King of Spain hath intention to set on England." 

Mary then proceeded to state, with great force, the 

1 MS. St. P. Off. decipher by Plielipps'. Mary to illendoza, 
20th May, 1586. 

"Inr~t was removed to Wingfield in October 1584. 
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reasoils which ought t , ~  move the Spanish King to 
aclopt this course ; after ~vhicl~, she thus expressed 
llcr hopes of giving him effectual assistance :- 

"Wow, in case that he deliberate to set on the 
Queen of Englancl, esteeming it most necessary that 
he assure himself also of Scotland, either to serve 
with him in the said enterprise, or, a t  the least, to 
hold that country so bridled that it serve not his 
enemy; I have thought good that you enter with 
the Ambassador of Spain, in these overtures follow- 
ing ; to wit, that I shall travel by a11 means to make 
my son enter in the said enterprise ; and if he can- 
not be persuaded therennto, that I shall dress a secret 
stra,it league among the principal Catholic lords of 
that country, and their adherents, to be joined with 
the King of Spain, and to execute, a t  his devotion, 
~vha t  of their parts shall be thought meet for ad- 
~~anc ing  of the said enterprise; so being they may 
have such succours of men and money as they will 
ask; ~vhich, I am sure, shall not be very chargeable, 
having inen enough within the country, and little 
money stretching far and doing much there. More- 
over, (continued Mary,) I shall dress the means to 
make my son be delivered in the hands of the said 
King of Spain, or in the Pope's, as best by them shall 
be thought goocl ; but with paction a'nd promise to 
set him a t  liberty whensoever I shall so desire, or 
that after my death, being Catholic, he shall desire 
again to repair to this Isle. " " This is thc 
best hostage that I and the said lords of Scotlancl 
can give to the King of Spain for performance of 
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that wllich may depend on them in the said entcs- 
tcrprise. But withal must there be a Regent estab- 
lished in Scotland, that [may] have commission and 
power of me and my son, (whom it shall be easy to  
make pass the same, he being once in the hands of 
the said lords,) to  govern the country in his absence ; 
for which office I find none so fit as the Lord Claucl 
Hamilton, as well for the rank of his house, as for 
his manhood and wisdom f and t o  shun all jealousy 
of the rest, a8nd to strengthen him the more, he must 
liave a Council appointed him of the principal lorcls, 
without whom he shall be bound not to ordain any- 
thing of importance. I should think myself most 
obliged to the King of Spain, that it would please 
him to receive my son, to make him be instructed 
and reduced to the Catholic religion, which is the 
thing in the world I most desire ; affecting a great, 
deal rather the salvation of his soul than to see him 
monarch of all Europe; and I fear much, that so 
long as he shall remain where he is, (amongst those 
that found all his greatness upon the maintenance of 
the religion which he professeth,) it shall never be in 
my power to bring him in again to  the right way; 
whereby there shall remain in my heart a thousand 
regrets and apprehensions, if I should die, to leare 
behind me a tyrant and persecutor of the Catholic 
Church. 

"If you see and perceive the said Ambassador to 
have goztst in these overtures, and put you in hope of 
;I good answer thereunto, which you shall insist to  

with all diligence, I would then, in the mean 
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time, SOU should write to  the Lord Claud, letting 
him understand how that the King of Spain is to set 
on this country, and desireth to  have the assistance 
of the Catholics of Scotland, for to stop, at  least, 
that from thence the Queen of England have no suc- 
cours; and to that effect, you shall pray the said 
Lord Claud to  sound and grope the minds hereunto 
of the principal of the Catholic nobility in Scotland. 
* * * And to the end they may be the more en- 

couraged herein, you may write plainly to the Lord 
Claud, that you have charge of me to treat with hi111 
of this matter. But by your first letter, I am not of 
opinion that you discover yourself further to him, nor 
to other a t  all, until you have received answer of the 
King of Spain, which being conform to this desiga- 
ment, then Inay you open more to  the Lord Claud ; 
showing him, that to assure himself of my son, and 
to the end (if it be possible) that things be passed, 
and done under his name and authority, it shall bc 
needful to seize his person, in case that willingly he 
cannot be brought to this enterprise ; yea, and that 
the surest were to deliver him into the King of 
Spain's hands, or the Pope's, a's shall be thought best; 
and that in his absence, he depute the Lord Claud 
his Lieutenant-general and Regent in the govern- 
ment of Scotland ; you are assured, I may be 
easily persuaded to confirm and approve. For if it 
be possible, I will not, for divers respects, be named 
therein, until the extremity. * * * I can write 
nothing presently to  the Lord Claud himself, for 
m-ant of an alpha'bet between me and him, which now 
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I send you herewith enclosed without ally mark on 
the back, that you may send it unto him." l 

Here, then, was Mary's plan minutely detailed by 
herself; in which Spain was to  "set on England," 
as she expressed i t ;  Lord Claucl Hamilton to bc 
made Regent i11 Scotland; her son, in the event of 
his refusal to turn Catholic, and combine against 
Elizabeth, to be seized, imprisoned, and coerced into 
obedience. 

The vigour and azbility n~i th  ~vhicll the whole is 
laid down, needs no comment; and the Scottish 
Queen omitted no opportunity to  encourage her 
friends in that great enterprise which was now re- 
garded as the forlorn hope'for the recovery of her 
liberty, and the restoration of the Catholic faith in 
B r i t a i n . 3 1 1  this time, however, Mary had no com- 
nlunication with Ballard. EIe had been specially 
warned not to attempt to hold any intercourse with 
the Queen ; and she had been informed by Morgan, 
in a letter written from his prison, that such an agent 
was in England labouring busily in her beha,lf, but 
that there were strong reasons ~ v h y  she should avoid, 
for the present, all. communication with him. 'L He 
followeth (said he) some matters of consequence, the 
issue whereof is uncertain; wherefore, a s  long as 

' MS. St. P. Off., Decipher by Pllclipps, Quecn of Scots to 
Clharles Paget, 20th May, 1586, Chartley. 

"S. St. P. Off., Mendoza to the Queen of Scots, May 19, 1586. 
Decipher by Phelipps. Ibid. Decipher by Phelipps, Sir Francis 
Englefield to Nau, 3d May, 1586. Ibid. Archbisliop of Glasgow 
to i'vfar~, Decipher, 20th May, 1586. Sec supra, pp. 280, 281, 
Rnndolpl19s intimation of this Conspiracy to JYnlsingllam. 



30 6 IIISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 1686. 

these labours of his and matters do continue, it is 
not for your Majesty's service to hold any intelli- 
gence with him a t  all, lest he, or his partners, be 
discovered, and they, by pains or other acciclents, 
discover yonr Majesty a f t e r ~ a ~ r d s  to have had in- 
telligence with them, which I would not should fall 
out for alny good in the world. And I have specially 
~ a r n e d  the said Ballard (he continued) not to deal 
at any hand with yonr Majesty, as long as he fol- 
loweth the affairs that he and others have in hand, 
which tend to do good, which I pray God may comc 
t o  pass; and so shall your Majesty be relieved by 
the power of God."' 

I n  a postscript of a letter of Morpn's to  Curle, 
Nary's French secretary, written on the same, which 
was intercepted and deciphered by Phelipps, an indi- 
rect allusion was made to these practices of Ballard 
against the life of Elizabeth. " I am not unoccn- 
pied (said he) although I be in prison, to  think of 
her 14ajesty's state, and yours that endure with her, 
t o  your honours; and there be many means in hand 
to  ~.enzove the beast that troubbth all the wo~ld. ' '~ 

But althorrgh Maly, thus warned, prudently ab- 
stained from any conlmnnications with Ballard, she 
continued in active correspondence with Morgan, 
Englefield, Mendoza, Paget, a'nd Persons, on the sub- 
ject of " the great enterprise." The principal person 
throuih whom she transmitted her letters was Gil- 

l I\logan to the Qucen of Scots, Nurdin, p. 527. 
? 31s. St. P. OK, Morgan to Curlc. Dcripl.er by ~ l l c l i p y ~ ~  

24th J u n e  old style, 4th duly ncm. 
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hert Gifforcl, ~vllo had sold himself to Walsingham. 
Her letters accordingly were regularly intercepted, 
deciphered by Phelipps, copied, considered by Wal- 
singham, and then forwarded to their destination.' 
The English minister, therefore, was quite as well 
ricquainted with the plot for tlie invasion ofthe realm, 
and the insurrection of the Roman Catholics, as the 
conspirators themselves. He  knew, also, the desperate 
clesigns of Ballard, Babington, and his fellows, against 
the Queen's life ; yet, as Mary had abstained from all 
intercourse with the conspirators, there was no evi- 
dence to connect her with their designs. There 
miglit be presumptions against her ; (and it seems to 
me impossible for any one to have read Morgan'a 
allusion to  the secret designs of Ballard without 
having a suspicion of some dark purpose ;) but 
nothing had yet bronght her into direct contact with 
Ballard or Babington. Here, then, was the diffi- 
cuRy ; and as Walsingham pondered over the way to 
remove it, it seems to have fallen out, most unhappily 
for tlie Scottish Queen, that in consequence of the 
advice of Morgan, she resolved to  renew her corre- 
spondence with Babington, who probably about this 
time had returned from France to England, bringing 
with him the letter of the 29th April above-men- 
t , i ~ n e d . ~  It has been imagined, that Mary was d r a m  
on to renew her correspondence with Babington by 
;L st~ata~gern of Walsingham's ; but although Wal- 

' 31s. Letter, St. P. Qff., Paulet to Walsingliam, 11th April, 
I .?SF. 

Si1:i1.3 p. 280. 
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singham was busy and ingenious in his stratagems 
after the correspondence had begun, there is no 
proof that any measures of his led to its renewal ; 
and it is evident, from what has been already stated, 
that for this purpose no trick or stratagem was 
required. 

But, however this inay be, Mary could not have 
adopted a more fatal step ; indeed, it was the very 
crisis of her fate. Hitherto, she knew only of the 
project for the Spanish invasion ; and, listening to the 
suggestions of prudence and suspicion, had connected 
herself in no way with Ballard and the plot against 
Elizabeth's life. Had she continued thus cautions, 
she was ignorant, and she was safe. But Babington 
arrived in England ; his residence lay in the near 
neighhourhood of Mary's prison ; Morgan had given 
hirn a letter to that Princess, recommending the re- 
newal of their intercourse. The person who then 
managed the secret conveyance of Mary's letters was 
the treacherous Gifford. He, we know, would first 
convey it to Wnlsingham to be deciphered ; it woulcl 
be then forwarded to the Scottish Queen. What a 
illoment of suspense must this have been for the Eng- 
lish secretary, who was watching, silent and darkling, 
for thc evidence which might conrict the captive 
Queen ? Had she suspected, or hesitated, or delayed, 
Morgan, tvho was in communication with Ballard, 
ancl likely to be soon informed of Babington having 
joinccl the plot against Elizabeth's life, might haye 
warnecl her against having any communication with 
I i iv~ ,  ac; lic hxd done ngainst corresponding with 
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Ballard. But Mary, if we are to believe the letters 
produced on her trial, which, however, she affirmed 
to be forgeries, had no suspicion. She wrote to 
Babington, at  first, briefly. He, if we are to accept 
as genuine a copy of his letter produced a t  the trial, 
replied at great length. I n  his reply, the schen~e for 
the invasion was connected with the conspiracy for the 
assassination of the Queen. Mary again answered ; 
a t  least so it was alleged by her enemies, who pro- 
duced a copy of her reply ; she there gave directions 
for the landing of the troops and her own escape ; 
she alluded also to the assassination; and in her letter, 
if genuine, certainly did not deprecate it. The agent 
who managed this secret correspondence was Gifford; 
the man in whom Eabington chiefly confided was 
Poley. Both were sold to Walsinghain : every letter 
was thus carried first to him, deciphered by Phelipps, 
copied' and reserved for evidence ; every conversatioi~ 
between the conspirators was reported. At  last, 
when all seemed ripe for execution, the signal was 
given ; Gifford and his base assistants dropt the mask; 
Walsingham stept from behind the curt,ain ; Bsllard 
and Babington were seized; and the unfortunate 
captive, one moment elated with hope, and joyous in 
the anticipation of freedom, found herself in the next, 
detected, entangled, lost. This rapid summary has 
been given, to bring, at  one glance, under the reader's 
eye, the great lines in this miserable a,nd intricate 
story ; "and, before, proceeding to trace it farther, one 
observation must b@-added. From the system adoptcd 
by Walsingham, and the assistance he might deriva 
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from the unscrupulous ingenuityof Phelipps, it is clear; 
that if he were EO base as to avail himself of it, he 
was in possession of a machinery by which he could 
make Mary appear guilty of any plot he pleased. The 
letters of her correspondents, Morgan, Babington, 
Paget,".and others, were written in cipher to her, and 
her replies were conveyed in cipher to  them. Both 
fell into the hands of the English secretary ; and, a t  
the subsequent trial of Mary, the two long letters 
which proved, as was contendecl, the Queen's acces- 
sion to the plot against Elizabeth's life, were prodncec1, 
not in-the originals, but in alleged copies of the de- 
ciphered clocuments. Nothing can be more evident 
tlian~that, under such a system, Mary may have been 
wholIy innocent, and yet may have been made to  ap- 
pear guilty. The real letters which passed between 
her and Babington, and which were never produced, 
may have related solely to the great project for the 
invasion of Englancl, and her escape. The copies of 
Shese letters, avowedly taken by Phelipps, Walsing- 
ham's servant, may have been so manufactured, as  
t o  connect the invasion with the assassination of 
Elizabeth. W e  shall afterwards see that Mary as- 
sertecl this was really done ; but, meanwhile, let nx 
proceed with the story. 

Mary had two secretaries, namecl Nan and Curle: 
the  first, a man of ability, intelligence, and education, 
but quarrelsome, and fond of political intrigue ; the 
second, chiefly employed as a clerk and decipherer. 
Both of them enjoying her confidence, and intrusted 
with the management of her secret correspondence. 
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It does not exactly appear when the Scottish Queea 
received, through Babington, Morgan's letter, recom- 
mending the renewal of her correspondence with this 
gentleman ; but, on the 4th July, 1586,l Curle sent 
to  Gifford, or to  the substitute who sometimes acted 
for him, a packet, in which he enclosed a letter, tvhiclx 
he begged him to  convey to Anthony Babington. The 
letter accompanying this packet was in cipher, and 
in the following words :- 

" On Sunday last, I wrote unto you by this bearer, 
having received nothing from you since your letter- 
dated the sixteenth of this instanL2 I hope to have 
her Majesty's despatch, mentioned in my foresaid, 
ready for to-morrow sevennight, [conform to] the 
appointment'. I n  the mean season, her Majesty 
plsayeth you to send your foot-boy, so closely as yo~r 
can, with these two little bills: the one so 3 marked, 
to Master Ailthony Babington, dwelling lllost in 
Derbyshire, a t  a house of his own, within two miIes 
of Winkfield; as I doubt not but you know, for 
that in this shire he hath both friends and kinsmen; 
and the other bill, without any mark, unto one 
Richard Hurt Mercer, dwelling in Nottingharne 
Tower. Unto neither of the two foresaid personages, 
your said boy needeth not to declare ~vhoso he isy 
(unless he be already known by them with whom he 
shall have to do ;) but only ask answer, and what 
is given him, to bring it to  your hands; which her 

1 ITS. Letter, St. P. 'off., Curle tof [Gifford,] July 4, Saturday. 
By this is meant the 16tli of June. 
MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Cnrlc to_f[Gifford,] July 4, SstarcIay- 
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Majesty assureth herself, you will, with convenient 
diligence, make come unto her. Her Jlajesty de- 
sireth that you would, on every occasion you have 
to  m i t e  hither, participate unto her such occurrences 
a s  come to your knowledge, either foreign or within 
the realm ; and, in particular, what you understand 
of the Earl of Shrewsbury, his going to Court. God 
preserve you. Chartley, of July the fourth, on Satur- 
day." l 

This letter, the authenticity of which there is no 
reason to  dispute, is a small slip of paper written 
~vholly in cipher; the decipher being added below it 
by Phelipps, but much mntilated. It will not, how- 
ever, escape an attentive reader, that the writer does 
not specify by whom the enclosed letter to Anthony 
Habington was written. It inay have been from 
Mary, or it may possibly have been from her secre- 
tary, Nau, or from Curle. Walsingham and Burgh- 
ley, indeed, alleged at the trial, and it was so pleaded, 
that the enclosure was a letter from the Queen of 

This letter is preserved in cipher in the St. P. Off., in a most 
valuable collection of original papers and letters, entitled, " Papers 
of Mary Queen of Scots." The deciphered part, in Phelipps' 
hand, is, much of it, illegible. I t  is now printed, for the first time, 
from a decipher, by &Ir Lemon of the State-paper Office. I t  is 
singular, as t>hat gentleman has remarked, that Curle, or Nau, in 
writing it, made an error in the date. I n  1586, the 4th of July, 
Roman style, which Mary's Secretaries used, was on a Friday, not 
a Saturday; Saturday was the 5th of July, but the writer had mis- 
taken the day of the month. This trivial circumstance appears to 
me to confirm the authenticity of thc letters ; and tliere is another 
instance of carelessness in it: he speaks, although writing on the 
5th July, of the 16th of this instant;" evidently meaning the 
16th June. This tells the same way. 
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Scots to Babiiigton ; and this original letter is cer- 
tainly alluded to as extant in a list drawn up by 
Rurghley ; but if it ever existed, it is now lost. It 
was not brought forward a t  the trial, when Mary 
demanded to  see it, and .alleged that no such letter 
was ever written by her: a copy was all that was 
then produced ; and a copy of the decipher is all that 
we. now have.' This letter, purporting to be ad- 
dressed by Mary to Babington, was as follows :- 

" My very good friend, albeit it be long since you 
heard from me, no more than I have done from you, 
against my will ; yet would I not you should think 1 
have the meanwhile, or ever will be unmindful of the 
effectual affection you have showed heretofore to- 
wards all that concerrieth me. I have understood, 
that upon the ceasing of our intelligence, there were 
addressed ui~to you, both from France and Scotland, 
some packets for me. I pray you, if any be come to 
your hands, and be yet in place, to deliver them ta 
' I t  may be added, that there is also in the St. P. Off., a copy 

of the same letter in cipher, made by some unknown hand, most 
probably Gifford's, cn the back of the small ciphered letter already 
quoted, of date the 4th July, enclosing to Gifforcl the Queen's letter 
to Babington. I t  may be conjectured that Gifford, before forward- 
ing the original to Babington, took a copy of it  on the back of his 
own letter. This letter was deciphered for me by Mr Lemon, and 
is exactly the same as that printed in the text, with the exception, 
that the date is thus given in the ciphered letter: "Of June the 
twenty-fifth, at Chartley, by  your assured good friend, MARIE R." 
The long interval between June 25 and Ju ly  5, can only be ac- 
counted for b y  supposing that Mary, in writing to Babington, con- 
trary to her usual practice, used the old style ; whilst Curle, or Nau, 
in writing to Gifforcl, and enclosing the Queen's letter, used the 
new. The 25th dude old style, was exactly the 5th July new, 
as tliere sllould be a difference of ten days. 
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.the bearer hereof, who will make then1 to be,safely 
conveyed unto me. And I will pray God for your 
preservation. At  Chartley, your assured good frielld, 
MARIE R."l 

When the packet containing this letter reached 
Gifford, it was immediately conveyed to  Sir Amias 
Paulet, who transmitted it to Walsinghanz on the 
29th June, with many regrets that it appeared to 
him too small to contain any very important matter. 
He, a t  the same time, informed the English secre- 
tary, that Phelipps, who was then in London, and to  
whom Elizabeth and Walsingha,m appear to have 
committed the management of the whole plot for the 
-interception of Mary's letters, had written a letter to  
him, in which he laid down a new plan of operations, 
by which he hoped to succeed more surely and speed- 
ily. Paulet, howeve;, rejected it as dangerous, and 
liable, by exciting suspicion, to break off the good 
course already begun."e added, that this was 
the more to be feared, as it was expected, that 
on the 3d of the month, " great matter" would 
come from these people. Three days after this letter 
"S. Copy, St. P. Off., Mary to Babington, June 25. 
S MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Paulet to Walsinghanl, June 29,1586. 

I n  this letter of Paulet, which is too long to quote, me obtain a 
clear view of tlie machinery and the actors in this secret corre- 
spondence. Mary enlployed a brewer, who supplied tlie castle, 
and went by the name of "the honest man," to receive her letters 
from Gifford. IIe carried the hiswers to Gifforcl again, or to s 
-cousin of his, who acted as his substitute; and all tlie three were 
in the pay of Walsingham and Paulet ; so that the letters of the 
Queen, or her secretaries, were sure to be intercepted, sent to Tlral- 
singham, cleciphered by Phelipps, and then retransmitted to Paulet, 
who forwarded then1 to their destination. 



1586. JAMES VI. 31.5 

of Paulet'a of the 29th June,' Mary wrote from 
Chartley to Morgan, informing him that Pietro, the 
name given to Gifford in their letters, at his last re- 
turn from France, had brought her three letters from 
him, one of which regarded Eabington. She stated, 
also, that she had received an anonymous letter, 
which, she imagined, came from Poley, who made 
courteous offers ; but she was afraid to  deal in it till 
she had ascertained the matter more certainly; ad- 
vising Morgan, for the greater security, to  keep those 
persons with whom she had to deal as much as pos- 
sible unknown to each other. She then added this 
remarkable passage regarding her intercourse with 
Babington : " As to Babington, he hath both kindly 
and honestly offered himself and all his means, to be 
employed any way I would; whereupon I hope to  
have satisfied him by two of my several letters since 
I had his. He hath seen that mine hath prevented 
him with all lawful excuses shown on my part of the 
long silence between us." In  the conclusion of the 
same letter, the Scottish Queen, in answer to the 
passage regarding Ballard, already quoted from Mor- 
gan's letter of the 4th July,' thus spoke of him :- 
" I have heard of that Ballard of whom you write, 
but nothing from himself, and, therefore, have no 
intelligence with him."3 

On the day after, 13th July, Nan, Mary's secre- 

1 On the 12th July new style, or 2d July old. 
Supra, p. 306. ' 

3 MS. Letter, St, P. Off., Original decipher by Phelipps, BIary 
to illorgan, 12th July new style, i .  C., 2d J d y  old. 
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tary, wrote to  Babington, informing him that his 
mistress had received his letters yesternight," that 
is, on the evening of the 12th Ju1y;l which letters, he 
added, before this bearer's return, cannot be de- 
ciphered. He  then continued :-" He (the bearer) 
is, within three days, to repair hither again, against 
which time her Majesty's letter will be in readiness. 
I n  the mean tinie, I would not omit to show you, 
that there is great assurance made of Mr Poley's 
faithful serving of her Majesty ; and by his own let- 
ters [he] hath vowed and prornised the same." But 
he subjoined this caution. "As yet, her Majesty's ex- 
perience,of him is not so great as I dare embolden 
you to  trust him much ; he never having written to 
her Majesty but once, whereunto she hath not yet 
answered. * * * Let me know plainly what you 
understand of him.--] 2th July, Chart1ey.-NAU."' 

Although these two letters, the first from Mary to  
Morgan, the second from Nau to Babington, appear 
not in the original, but only in the decipher, wliich 
is in the handwriting of Fhelipps, and must therefore 
be regarded with suspicion, there seems no sufficient 
reason for doubting their authenticity; and they 
establish the fact, that the Scottish Queen, a t  this 
time, had twice written to Babington, and meant to 
write again. They prove, also, that, on the 12th 
July, she had received letters from Babington. But 
with regard to the subject of his offers to her, or her 

1 12th July new style ; 2d July old. 
2 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Original decipher by Phelipps, 

endorsed, Nau to Bubington, 13th July. 
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reply to him, upon which depends t,he whole questioiz 
of her guilt, all is still dark. 

To understand what occurred next, the reader must 
keep in mind, that in his secret communications with 
Mary, Babington sometimes remained a t  Litchfield 
in the neighbourhood of Chartley, and sometimes 
went to London, for the purpose of holding his pri- 
vate meetings with the conspirators, and also of 
visiting Secretary Walsingham, to whom, strange a s  
it may appear, he had offered himself as a spy upon 
the practices of the Roman Catholic party. His 
object in this was evident. He believed that Wal- 
singhain knew nothing of his designs; and hoped, 
under this disguise, to  become acquainted with all 
the secret purposes of .the Secretary. But Walsing- 
ham was too old a diplomatist to be thus taken in. 
EIe accepted his offers, and made his own use of 
them. I-Iitherto Babington seems to have been in 
London when he received, through Gifford or his 
substitutes, the letters from Mary ; but he now pro- 
posed to come down to Litchfield, and communicate 
with her secret messenger in person. It is evident 
that this change made some alteration necessary on 
the part of Walsingham and Phelipps ; for the delay 
which must have occurred in having the intercepted 
letters sent up to London, deciphered, copied, ancl 
retransmitted, to be delivered again to Babington, 
would have raised suspicion, and must, in all probz- 
bility, have led to discovery. Phelipps, therefore, was 
sent down to  Chartley,' where, on pretence of somr 

2 
1 &IS. Letter, St. P. OK, Phelipps to T~Taltleingl~an~, Char&lry, 
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other bnsiness, he took up his residence with Sir 
Amias Paulet ; and thus no time was lost in de- 
ciphering the intercepted letters, and no suspicio~l 
raised. I11 this way Walsingham trusted that he 
would he enabled, following out what they had be- 
gun, to clraw the nets more tightly round the Scot- 
tish Queen ; and procure, at  last, s clear and positive 
ground of conviction. Keeping this in view, the 
correspondence grows more and more interesting. 

Plielipps left London for Chartley on the evening 
of the 7th July: and on the way thither he met a 
messenger with a packet from Sir Amias Pade t  t o  
Walsingham, which, according to the directions he 
hacl received from this minister, he opened. It con- 
tainecl a letter of Mary's to the French Ambassador. 
This the decipherer carried back with him to Chart- 
Iey, determining to  copy it with all speed, and send 
it up again ; adding in his letter, that he knew the 
Ambassador was expecting i t  earnestly. " By Sir 
Amias' letter, (to quote his note t o  Walsingliam,) I 
find (said he) all things to stand in so good terms, as  
my abode here will be the less, but for Babington's 
matters, which I beseech you resolve thoroughly and 
speedily ." * * 

14th July, 1586. AIso, Ibid., Phelipps to Walsingham, Stilton, 
8th July. 

It is stated by Dr Lingard, that he brought with liim 
Babington's long letter to Mary, ancl it seems very probable that 
he did so; but I have found no authority for this, and none is 
given for it. 

q f e .  Ft. P. Off.,Fliclipps to TValsingl~am, 8th duly, 1586. 
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The arrival of Phelipps at  Chartley was not un- 
noted by the Scottish Queen, whose mind, with the 
acuteness and suspicion produced by a long captivity, 
eagerly scrutinized every new person or circumstance 
which might affect her destiny. She remembered 
that Morgan had employed many years ago a gentle- 
man of the same name; but she had never seen him. 
Could this be the same, and was he to  be trusted, or 
migl~t he not be some new spy or eavesdropper of her 
enemies? To ascertain this, she sent a minute de- 
scription of his person to  Morgan.' H e  must have 
arrived at Chartley on the 9th July, and, having 
tleciphered the intercepted packet to  the French 
Ambassador, he, on the 14th, transmitted i t  116th 
this letter to  Walsingham. 

" It may please your Honour, the packet is pre- 
sently returned, which I stayed, in hopes t o  send both 
that and the answer t.o Ra. letter a t  once : in the 
~neanwhile, beginning to  decipher that which we had 
copied out before. And so I send your Honour her 
letter to  the French Ambassador, which was in 
cipher, and her letters to the Lord CIaud2 and Cour- 
celles out of cipher, Likewise, the short note was 
sent t o  Bab., wherein is somewhat only in answer of 

1 "He was," she said, "of low stature, slender every way, 
dark, yellow-haired on the head, and clear yellow-bearded, pitted 
in the face wit11 small-pocks, short-sighted, and, as it appeared, 
about thirty years of age." We have here a minnte portrait of an 
acute, unscrupulons, and degraded man ; whose talents, as a spy 
and decipherer, wereso successfully employed by Walsingham in 
the detection and destruction of the Scottish Queen. 

Lord Claucl ~ar/nilton. 



that concerned Poley in his. We attend hev zrely 
heart in the ~zezt .  She begins to recover health and 
strength, and did ride about in her coach yesterday. 
I had a smiling countenance, but L, thought of the 
verse- 

' C~lm tibi dicit Are-sicut ab Iioste Care.' 

I hope by the next to send your Honour better 
matters." * * The postscript of this letter is 
important. "If the posts make any reasonable 
speed, these will be with you by to-morrow noon; 
and G. G. (he means Gilbert Gifford) may have 
delivered his pa'cket, and received his answer, by 
Sunday; which then despatched hither, would give 
great credit to the action ; for otherwise we look not 
to depart this se'nnight, and, therefore, as good all 
that belonged hereto were done'here as at London."' 

How strange a scene .was that now presented bj- 
the Castle of Chartley, Mary's prison. The poor 
Queen carrying on a plot for her escape ; watching 
anxiously the fate of her letters on which all de- 
pended, and believing all safe ; whilst Phelipps, li\.ing 
then under the same roof, and meeting hel; as he 
says, with a smiling countenance, was opening every 
packet ; cominunicating her most secret thoughts to 
Walsingham and Elizabeth; and weaving, at her 
rery elbow, the toils in which she was to be caught. 

On this same day, the 14th July, Sir Amias 
Paulet wrote to TValsingl~anl, acquainting him that 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. off.; 14th July, 1586, Phelipps to Wal- 
singlinni, Cllnrtley. 



the packet, selit by Mr Phelipps, had been thanlc- 
fully received; with such answer given by writing 
a.s the shortness of the time would alloy ; and n, 

promise made to answer more a t  length a t  the return 
of the honest man, which, he added, would be in 
three days. This packet, brought down by Phelipps, 
and thankfully received by Mary, appears to hare 
contained a long letter from Babington, describing 
the conspiracy for the invasion of the realm, the 
escape of the Scottish queen, and the assassination of 
Elizabeth. This letter, which was not produced a t  
the trial, and which Mary denied having ever rc- 
ceired, no longer exists, if it ever did exist, in the 
original ; but a copy, in a clerk's hand, has been pre- 
served. I t s  purport was to excuse his long silence, 
every means of conveying his letters having been cut 
off, since the time that she had been committed to  
the custocly of such a Puritan a's Paulet. IIe then 
gaw an account of his conference with Ballard ; in- 
formed her of the intended murder of the Queen of 
England by six gentlemen selected for that pnrpose, 
and of his resolution to  set her a t  the same time a t  
liberty ; and he requested her to assigm rewards t o  
the actors in this tragedy, or to their posterity, should 
they perish in the attempt? 

It is to be remembered, that this day, the 14th 
July, in Sir Amiss' letter and hfr Phelipp's, was the 
24th July according to  the new style, which Mary 
and her secretaries, Curle and Wau, follo~ved in their 

1 Carte, vol. h. p. 603. Lingarc!, vol. viii. p. 205. 
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letters ; ancl, accorclingly, wc find that Curle, on the 
22d July new, or 12th July old style, and on the 
27th July new or 17th old, wrote two short letters 
in cipher, ~lrhich were deciphered by Phelipps, then 
a t  Chartley. They were addressed to Gifford ; ancl 
in the first, he told him, that the Queen of Scots had 
received his lettel; dated the 12th of that instant, 
with its enclosure ; that she was grateful for his dili- 
gellee, but approvecl of his consin Gilbert's advice, 
not to employ frequently a certain person to whom he 
had alluded. He (Curle) then added this sentence : 
" If  MP Babington be past down to the country, for 
tvl~orn this character shall servc in time coming, 
llcr Majesty prayeth you to cause convey to him this 
cnclosed, otherwise to stay it ul~til  you hear from her 
Jlajcsty again. With my next I shall do my best 
to satisfy you touchillg the other characters. God 
have you in protection. Of July 22. CURLE, Chart- 
Icy."l 

I n  the other letter, of the 27th J u l s  Curle wrote 
t o  the same person, or to Gilbert Gifford, much to  
the same purpose, informing him, that Afary had 
received his letter of the 25th inst. ; that she com- 
mended his zeal, and begged him to have "this 
cnclosed surely delivered in the hands of Anthony 
Babington; if lie were come down in the country; 
otherwise to keep it still in his own hands, or his 
brother's, until Bal~ington should arrive." He goes 
on to say, that, within ten days, her Majesty ~vould 

1 31s. St. P. Off., Cipher and decipher, July 22, Curle. 



liave a packet ready to be sent to the French Am- 
bassador by his boy, who, by the same means, might 
also carry the other to Babington at London, if he 
was not come sooner.' 

Here, then, a t  last, is the anxiously expected pac- 
ket et from Mary to Babington, t h i h ,  S we have 
seen, Phelipps alluded in his letter of the 14th July; 
when he wrote to Walsingham, with such emphatic 
eagerness, " W e  attend her very heart, a t  the next." 
Tt was enclosed in the packet with this letter of 
Curle's, of the 27th July, and was instantly pounced 
irpon by those who were watching for it. Accord- 
ingly, on the 19th July, which, it must be recollected, 
is the 29th July new style, Phelipps wrote in exulta- 
tion from Chartley to Walsingham : " It mayplease 
your Honour, you liave now this Queen's answer to  
Babington, ~vhich I received yesternight. I f  he be 
in the country, the original will be conveyed into his 
hands, afid, like enough, answer returned. I hope, 
for your Honour's speedy resolution touching his 
apprehension or otherwise, that I may dispose of 
myself accordingly. I think, under correction, you 
have enough of him ; unless you would discover more 
particularities of the confederates, which may be done 
even in his imprisonment. I f  your Honour mean to 
take him, ample commission and charge would be 
given to choice persons for search of his house. It 
is like enough, for dl her commandment, her letter 
will not be so soon defaced. I wish it for an evidence 

1 EIS. Sf, P. 0ff:~i~~ier a d  deci~litr, July 27, 1586. ' 
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against her, .if it please God, to inspire her Majesty 
with the heroical courage that were meet for the 
avenge of God's cause, and the security of herself 
and this State. At least, I hope she will hang Nau 
and Curle, who justly make Sir Amias Paulet take 
upon him the name she imputes to him-of a jailor 
of criminals. * * * I have sent you here~vith of 
this Queen's letters, in the packet was last sent, those 
to the Bishop of Glasgow, Don Lewis and Morgan. 

* * * She is very bold to make way to the 
great personage ; and, I fear, he will be too forward 
in satisfying her for her change, till he see Babington's 
treasons, which I doubt not but your Honour hath 
care enough of, not to discover which way this word 
comes in. I am sorry to hear from London, that 
Babington was not yet taken, and that some searchefi, 
h y  forewarning, have been frustrated."' 

Phelipps concluded his letter, by cautioning Wal- 
singham against one Thoroughgood, who had applied 
for a license to leave the country, and whom he 
suspected might be Ballard under a feigned name ; 
and added this postscript : " It may please your 
honour, by Berdon, or my man, to inform yourself 
whetherBabington he at London or no; which known, 
we,will resolve presently upon return." Paulet also 
wrote briefly, but joyfully, to Walsingham. His 
words, he said, would be few ; the papers now sent 
containing matter enough for one time; but he re- 
joiced that " God had blessed his labours, giving him 

'PIS. Letter, Pt. P. Off., Phelipps to Walsingham, July 19, 1586. 
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the reward of true and faithful service, and trusted, 
that the Queen, and her grave councillors, would 
make their profit of the merciful providence of God 
towards her Highness and England."' 

It must here be remarked, that there seems no 
good reason to  doubt the perfect authenticity of 
those two notes of Curle's, of the 22d and 27th July ; 
and, therefore, no ground for questioning the fact, 
that the Queen of Scots had transmitted two several 
letters to Babington : neither can there be any doubt 
that the letters of Phelipps, written on his road to  
Chartley, and during his residence there, are authen- 
t ic ;  for they, like Curle's notes, are preserved, and 
prove themselves. But it is certainly remarkable, 
and cannot but excite suspicion, that, at  this critical 
moment, the originals of Mary's two letters to Bab- 
ington, which Phelipps undoubtedly received, and the  
contents of ~vhicli prored, as was affirmed, Mary's 
knowledge of the plot against Elizabeth's life, have 
both disappeared. Nay, the singularity goes farther ; 
for Mary sends two letters to Babington, one on the 
25th, the other on the 27th ; and only one was aftw- 
wards produced against her, and that confessedly not 
an original. All the other letters of Curle, Morgan,. 
Nau, Gifford, and others, in these intricate doings, 
have been preserved, and generally with the decipher ; 
hut this letter, the most important of all, on which, 
indeed, the whole question turned, is a copy. At 
the trial, when this copy was produced and argued 
on, ~vhen Mary solemnly asserted that it was never 

II 
1 h3S. Letter, St. P. Off., Prtulet to ~'elsingham, July 20, 1586. 



written by her, and challenged her enemies to show 
the original, it was not forthcoming. It is impossi- 
ble not to regard this as a suspicious circumstance, 
coupled with the fact already noticed, that the letter 
of Babington to Mary is in the same predicament, 
and exists only as a copy ; and this suspicion is 
greatly increased by an assertion of Camden, that, 
a,fter intercepting and opening the Scottish Queen's 
letter to Babington, TValsingham, and his assistant 
Phelipps, cunningly added to it a postscript in the 
same characters, desiring him to set down the names 
of the six gentlemen, and it is likely (he observes) 
other things too? Hitherto this statenlent of Cam- 
den, which involves a charge of so dark a kind against 
Walsingham, has rested on his bare avernlent, un- 
supported by all evidence ; but I have found recently 
in the State-Paper Oflice, a small letter, written 
wholly in the same cipher as that of Mary's long 
letter to Babington, and endorsed in the hand of 
Phillipps, " The postscript of the Scottish Queen's 
Iettex to Babington." It runs thus, and certainly 
gives great support to the allegation of Camden :-- 
"' I would be glad t o  know the names and qualities 
vf the six gentleinen which are to accomplish the 
designment ; for that it may be I shall be able, 
upon knowledge of the parties, to give yon some 
further advice necessary to be followed therein ;2 as 

W a n ~ d e n  in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 517. 
2 After this, in the original cipher, follon-S this sentence siored 

through, but so as to be quite legible : "And even so do I wish 
to be made acquainted with the names of all such principal persons, 
a8 also WO be already as nlpo who be." 
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also, from time to time, particularly how you pro- 
ceed ; and as soon as you may, for the same purpose, 
who be already, and how far every one, privy here- 
unto."' The exact bearing of this postscript, as a 
proof of Mary's innocence, will afterwards appear. In 
the mean time, it is sufficient to remark, that it goes 
far to establish the fact, that her letters to Babiilgton 
were tampered with, and added to by Walsingham. 

Returning, however, to the contents of her reply, 
we find that Mary, in this real or pretended letter to 
Babington, entered fully into the details .of the in- 
tended invasion. She recommended them to examine 
deeply, first what forces tfhey might raise ; what cap- 
tains they should appoint ; of what towns and havens 
they could assure themselves ; where it would be 
best to assemble their chief strength ; what number 
of foreign auxiliaries they required ; what provision 
of money and armour ; by what means the six gen- 
tlemen deliberated to proceed ; and in what manner 
she should be assisted in making her escape. Hav- 
ing weighed all this, she recommended thein to com- 
municate the result, and their intentions, to Mendoza 
the Spanish Ambassado?, to whom she promised to  
write ; she enjoined on them the gre&test caution 
and secrecy: and, to conceal their real designs, ad- 

This mas deciphered for me by Mr Lenlon of the State-Paper 
Office, who has added this sentence : "I hereby declare, that the 
above is a true and literal decipher of the document in the State 
Paper Office in cipher, endorsed by Philipps-The Postscript of 
the Scottish Queen's le'tter to Babifzgton. The lines struck throug11 
with the pen are $I a similar manner struck through in the 
original. The spelling has been lnodernised. R o n ~ .  LEBION.'' 
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viscd them to communicate it oiily to a few, pretend- 
ing to the rest of their friends that they were arming 
themselves against some suspected attack of the 
Puritans. She then expressed herself in these re- 
markable words :- 

" Affairs being thus prepared, and forces in readi- 
ness, both without and within the realm, then shall 
i t  bc time to set the six gentlemen to  work; taking 
order, upon the accomplishing of their design, I may 
be suddenly transported out of this place, and that 
d l  your forces, in the same time, be on the field to 
meet me. * * * Nor for that there can be no 
eestain day appointed of the accomplishing of the 
mid gent81einen's designment,-to the end that others 
nlay be in readiness to take mc from hence, I would 
that the said gentlemen had always about them, or, 
at the least, at  Court, four stout inell furnished with 
good and speedy horses, for, so soon as the said design 
shall be execut,ed, to come with all diligence, to ad- 
vertise thereof those that shall bc appointed for my 
transporting; to the end that, immediately thereafter, 
they may bc a t  the place of my abode, before that 
my keeper can have advice of thc execution of the 
said design, or a t  least before he can fortify.hirnself 
within the house, or carry me out of the same. It 
mere necessary to  despatch two or three of the said 
advertisers by divers ways, to the end that if one be 
staid, the other may come through ; and a t  the same 
instant, mere it also needful, to  assay to cut off the 
post's ordinary ways. This is the plat which I find 
hest for this enterprise, and the order whereby yon 
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should conduct the same for our common securities. 
* * * I shall assay, (she continued,) that a t  the 
same time that the work shall be in hand in these 
parts, to make the Catholics of Scotland arise, and 
to put my son in their hands ; to the effect, that from 
thence our enemies here may not prevail to have any 
succour." She then added this caution, little be- 
lieving that, in the moment she was writing, her 
cause had been betrayed, " Take heed of spies arid 
false brethren that are amongst you, specially of 
some priests already practised by our enemies for 
your discovery; and in any wise, keep never any 
paper about you that in any sort may do harm ; for 
from like errors have come the condemnation of all 
such s s  have suffered heretofore." * * * I11 

the last place, the Queen informed Babington, that 
for a long time past, she had been a suitor to have 
the place of her confinement changed, and that Dndley 
Ca,stle had been suggested, to which place it was not 
~mlikely she might be removed by the end of sum- 
Iner. She then observed, " If  I stay here, there i s  
for that purpose [her escape] but one of these three 
means following to be looked [to.] The first, that 
at  one certain day, appointecl, in my walking abroad 
on horseback on the moors, betwixt this and Staf- 
ford, where ordinarily you know very few people d o  
pass, a fifty or threescore men, well horsed and 
armed, come :to take me there; as they may easily, 
nly keeper having with him ordinarily but eighteen 
or twenty horsemen only with dags.l The second 

II 
1 nags-Pistols. 
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mean, is to come a t  midnight, or so011 after, to set 
fire in the barns and stables, which you know are 
near to  the house ; and whilst that my guardian's 
servants shall run forth t o  the fire, your company 
(having esery one a ]nark whereby they may know 
one another under night) might surprise the house, 
where I hope, with the few fservants I have about 
me, I were able to  give you correspondence. And 
the third: some that bring carts hither, ordinarily 
coming early in the morning, their carts might be so 
prepared, and with such art-leaders, that being cast 
in the midst of the great gate, the carts might fa11 
down or overwhelm, and that thereupon you might 
come suddenly with*your followers to make yourself 
master of the house and carry me away." S * 9 

She concluded her letter with expressions of deep 
<gratitude to Babington :-" Whatsoever issue the 
matter taketh, I do and will think myself obliged, as 
long as I live, towards you for the offers you make to 
hazard yourself as you do for my delivery; and by 
any means that ever I may have, I shall do my en- 
deavour t o  recognise, by effects, your deserts herein. 
I have commanded a more ample alphabet to be 
made for you, which herewith yon will receire. God 
Almighty have you in pro&ection!-Your most assured 
friend for ever. X. Fail not to bxrn this pre,sent 
quickly."' 

As sooil as  Walsingham had procured this letter, 
which directly implicated Mary, not only in the con- 

1 MS. Copy, St. P. Off. 



spiracy for the invasion, but proved, by inference, her 
assent to  the plot for the assassination of the Eng- 
lish Queen, he determined to secure Ballard and his 
fellows on the first opportunity. It was necessary, 
however, to  act with extreme caution. If one of the 
conspirators was laid hold of before another, the rest 
might take alarm and escape, the news reach Chai-t- 
ley, and Nary, whose papers he had resolved to  
seize, might order everything to be destroyed. Hc 
was too acute not to  anticipate great difficulty even 
after all he had done and intercepted. The letters 
of Mary t o  Morgan and to Babington were not in 
the Queen's hand, but in cipher, and were written by 
her secretaries, Nau or Curle. She might deny 
them. The small notes enclosing these letters were 
d s o  in cipher, and confessedly from Curle and Nau. 
She might assert that  they had mit ten them without 
her orders, and unknown to her? The only way of 
coinpleting the proof was to search her 'repositories 
for the original minutes or rough drafts of these let- 
ters, and to seize Curle and Nan, and compel ihem 
to  confess all they knew. Hence the extreme dan- 
ger of giving any alarm at Chartley, which might 
lead to the destruction of the one, or the escape of 
the other. Babingt on apparently was still unsus- 
picious, and in constant communicatioii with Wal- 
singhanl. Contrary to his original intention, he hacl 
given up his plan of going down to Litchfiell, and 

1 The reader will observe, that I am here rea~oning on tllc 
assumption that M p's letters to Babington, as they appear in 1 t l ~ c  copies, were nut ientic. 
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had remained in London, where he held secret meet- 
ings with Ballard, Savage, Poley, Dun, and the  
other conspirators. 

I n  these difficult circumstances, Walsingham was 
compelled to  act rapidly, and yet with caution. H e  
sent for Phelipps, (July 22,) who remained still a t  
Chartley, busy in the task of deciphering the last 
letters intercepted, addressed t o  Mendoza and the 
French Ambassador.' Elizabeth, he said, would 
thank him, on his arrival, with her own lips ; but as  
Habington was still in London, he must bring with 
him the original letter of Mary t o  this traitor. It 
-'was not, however, brought up by the decipherer till 
the 27th or 28th, and was then conveyed t o  Babing- 
ton by a secret messenger, t o  whom he promised t o  
have the answer ready by the second of August.' 
And here, in passing, i t  seems very important t o  re- 
mark, that  the original letter of Mary t o  Babington, 
the letter which brought home t o  her the knowledge 
of the conspiracy against the Queen's life, and which 
has b.een already fully quoted, was confessedly in the 
hands of Phelipps the decipherer from the evening of 
the 18th July, when he intercepted it: to  the 27th 
or 28th of the same month, a period of nine days a t  
the least. There was ample time, therefore, to  make 
any changes or additions which might seem necessary 

MS. Letter, St. P. Off., TVnlsingham to Phelipps, July 22, 
1586, Papers of Mary. 

&IS. Letter, St. P. Off., Paulet to WalsingLam, 29th July, . 
1586, Papers of Mary. 

see snpra, p. 322. 



1596. JAJIES VI. 333 

for the implication of the Scottish Queen. So far 
with Walsingham all had proceeded well. Babing- 
ton had received the important letter, and promised 
his answer. Meanwhile, the task of arresting Bal- 
lard had been committed to Milles, one of Walsing- 
ham's secretaries ; but this conspirator used so many 
devices, and glided about so mysteriously, often 
changing his lodging, that for some time he eluded 
a11 their vigilance. At last he was seized and lodged 
in the Counter, a prison in Wood Street.' Phelipps, 
however, began to be in great alarm about Babing- 
ton, who had now become suspicious that they were 
discovered, and instead of keeping his appointment? 
for the 2d August, had ridden out of town, none 
knew where. The truth seems to have been, that 
the unhappy man was in an agony of suspense. I Ie  
had discovered Maud's treachery, and trembled for 
their plot being on the point of detection. I f  he fled, 
the cause was lost. I f  he remained, it might be to 
perish miserably. He  at last resolved to  write t o  
Mary, and return with the vain hope of still over- 
reaching Walsingham. His letter to the Scottish 
Queen, dated the 3d August, was intercepted like 
the r e d 2  It informed her of their danger, but con- 
jured her not to be dismayed, for all would yet go 
well. It was God's cause, he said, and that of the 
Church; it must succeed : and they had sworn t o  

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Milles to Mralsingl;llanl, 4th Aug., 
1586. 

"S: Letter. S$ P. Off., Phelipps to Walsingham, Aug. 2, 
1586. 
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perform it or die. He added, that he would send 
the answer to her propositions, and their final deter- 
mination, in the next.' This promised letter, how- 
ever, he was destined never to write. He  returned 
t o  London on the 4th August, the day on which 
Ballard was apprehended ; heard the fatal nem7s ; 
attempted a feeble remonstrance with Walsingham ; 
 as rea,ssured by the crafty excuses of that veteran 
intriguer for a few hours ; again doubted and trem- 
bled; and a t  last eluding the men who were set to 
watch his motions, escaped, in disguise, with some 
of his companions, and concealed himself in S t  John's 
Wood near the city. 

Walsingham appears hitherto, in these plots and 
counterplots, to  have acted on his own responsibility ; 
but it was now necessary to  determine on Mary's fate : 
and with this view, he now, fol; the first time, laic1 
before Elizabeth, in their full extent, the appalling 
discoveries which he had made; the conspiracy for 
the invasion of the realm ; and that also against her 
own life. The Queen was thunderstruck. She saw her 
extreme danger. The plot was evidently proceeding 
in her own dominions, in Scotland, in Spain, perhaps 
in France ; yet, though its general purpose was clear, 
its particular ramifications, especially in Scotland, 
and at Rome, were still unknom~n. She now recalled 
t o  mind RandolphYs solemn and warning letter, writ- 
ten from Edinburgli some months before this. The 
persons to whom he alluded must be fellow-conspi- 

MS. Letter, Copy, St. P. Off., Babington to  the Queen of 
E c ~ ~ H ,  Aug. 3, 1586. 



rators of Ballard; and this man, who seemed the 
principal agent, could probably tell all. Walsingham 
had used the precaution of apprehending him, simply 
on the charge of being a seminary priest, and, as 
such, interdicted by law from entering England. 
Elizabeth, under these circumstances, commanded 
Walsingham t o  keep everything still to himself. It 
was not time yet, she said, to consult the Council : 
,she and he must act alone ; and it- was her advice, 
that lie should first bribe some of Ballard's confidants, 
if he knew of any such, and thus elicit his secrets. 
She sugge~ted, also, that if any cipher used by the 
traitor in his correspondence had come to his hands, 
he might employ it to  extract from him the particu- 
lars of the plot against her life. It is from Wal- 
singham's answer to this proposition of the Queen, 
that the above particillars are drawn, and the letter 
itself is too interesting to  be omitted. It is as fol- 
lows :- 

"It may please your most Excellent Majesty, I 
will, as duty bindeth me, most pointedly observe your 
Majesty's commandment, especially in keeping to  my- 
self both the depth and the manner of the discovery 
of this great and weighty cause. The use of some 
apt instrument towards Ballard, if there could be 
such a one found as he could confidently trust, or we 
might stand assured would deal faithfully, nothing 
would work so good effect as such a course. The party 
that hath been used between us, seemeth not in any 
sound concert with him, though he was content for 
the sewing of hi$! turn to use him. Touching the use 
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of a cipher, there is none between him and any other 
come to my hands, so as nothing can be wrought 
that way as your Majesty most ~olit icly adviseth. 
Mr  Vice-chamberlain1 and I are humbly to crave 
your Majesty's directions touching the placing of 
Ballard afore examination. He remaineth now under 
a most strait guard in one of the Counters; and for 
the avoiding of intelligence, there are two trilstj2 
placed with him to attend on him. I n  case lie shall 
not lay himself open by disclosing, then were it fit he 
were committed to the Tower, with two trusty lriell 
to  attend on him, to the end he may be examined 
out of hand, and forced by torture to  utter that 
which otherwise he will not dis~lose."~ 

W e  must now turn to Mary, who not oiily re- 
mained in utter ignorance of all that happened, but 
continued her secret correspondence with her foreign 
friends " greedily," as Paulet expressed it, when lie 
intercepted the p a ~ k e t . ~  The time had now come to 
disclose the toils. On the 3d of August, Mr Wood, 
a Privy-councillor, posted from London, met Panlet 
in the fields nbar Chartley, and held a secret consul- 
tation. I t s  result was soon seen. The Scottish 
Queen was still fond of the chase. She had cheer- 
fully boasted to Morgan, in one of her letters, that 
when her enemies were representing her as bedrid, 

1 Sir C. Hatton. "0 in orig. 
3 MS. St. P. Off., Orig. Drafts, Walsingham to Elixalletlr, 

about 5th or 6th Aug., 1586. 
4 MP. Letter, St. P. Off., Paillet to TITalsingl~am, 30th July, 

1586. 
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she was able to liandlc her cross-bow, and follow o 
stag.' On the morning of the 8th A~tgust, her keeper, 
Paulet, invited her to hunt in the neighbouring park 
of Tixall, belonging to Sir 'CTTalter Ashton : she 
accepted, rode from Chartlcy, with a small suite, 
amongst whom were Nau and Curle her secretaries, 
and had not proceeded far when Mr Thomas Gorges 
cncountered them, and riding up to the Queen, in- 
formed her of the discovery of the conspiracy; adding, 
that he had received orders not to suffer her to return 
to Chartley, but to carry her to Tixall. At the same 
instant, Nau and Curle were seized, kept separate 
from each other, and hurried away, under a strong 
guard, to  London. Mary was completely taken by 
surprise. She broke into violent reproaches, and 
called upon her suite to  defend their mistress from 
the traitors who dared to lay hands on her. But a 
moment's reflection convinced her they were far too 
weak for resistance ; and she suffered Paulet to  lead 
her to T i ~ a l l . ~  Here, by Eli~a~beth's orders, she was 
kept a close prisoner, secluded from her servants, 
refused the ministry of her private chaplain, served 
by strangers, deprived of the use of writing ma- 
terials, and completely cut off from all intelligence. 
Whilst - this scene of arrest was acting in the 
fields, Mr Waad had arrived at Chartley; where 
he broke open her repositories, seized her ca.slcetq 
papers, letters, and ciphers ; and was, soon after, 

1 Tile Queen of Scots to Morgan, July 27, 1586. Murdin, 534. 
2 MS. St. P. Off.%, Sir Amias Paulet's Postils to Mr William 

\Vaad9s Memorial. Ibid., Esnerall to Courcelles, Oct. 7, 1586. 
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,joinecl by Panlet, who took possessioil of her money. 
All was then paclicd up and scaled, preparatory 
to  bci:lg sent to Elizabeth, ~vho 1101~ appears to  
have clirected every step. This Princess was over- 
joyetl at  the success which liacl attenclecl the arrest of 
Mary : she wrote to Psulet, addressiilg him as the 
most faithful of her subjects; promised him a re~vard 
" 12012 07?z1?i6t(s d a t u ~ ~  ; " and, soon after, sent a new 
message, eagerly clesiring him to write the whole 
story of everything cloile to Mary ; not that she sus- 
pected (as shc said) he had omitted any part of his 
duty, but "simply that she might take pleasure in 
the reading thereof."' Above all things, Elizabeth 
nrgecl the safe keeping, ancl immediate transmissioll 
to  her, of the caakcts found in the Q~reen of Scots' 
se~ositories. These, and the things contained in 
them, she declared were, in her esteem, of far greater 
value than Nau or Cnrle; and, not content with a 
written message, she deputed a special envoy from 
Windsor to look after these treasures and bring 
them a t  once." 

Shortly before this, Elizabeth had a new triumph 
in the seizure of Babington and his companions. 
Till now, they had escaped the officers who were ill 
pursuit ; but driven at last by h~ulger from the woods 

1 31s. Letter, St. P. Off., Mr Necasius Yetswert to Sir Fraiicis 
IValsiilgllain, TVindsor, Angust 19, 1586. 

2 Could it  be that tlie Queen expected to find, anioiigst these 
treasures, the famous casket, contailling the letters of Botliwell, 
whicll slle had made sucll strenuous exertions to get into her pos~es- 
&ion in 1583 ? 8ee supra, p. 139. I~ingard, 4th edition, vol. viii. 
l'. 212. 
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into the open country, they were apprehended near 
Harrow, and carried in triumph to London, amid the 
shouts and execration of the citizens. There was no 
11~a11i of eviclence against them, and their own confes- 
xions corroboratedall; but after the dayfor their trials 
had been fixed, and everything seemed ready, the 
English Queen suddenly caught alarm, from the idea, 
that if the charge made by the Crown lawyers, and 
the evidence of the witnesses, deeply inip1ica;ted Mary, 
her own life was not safe. Elizabeth had not yet 
rosolved on the trial of the Scottish Queen, and the 
evidence against her was most imperfect. Her two 
secretaries, Nau and Cnrle, had as yet confessed no- 
thing which materially involved their mistress. NO 
original ~niiiutes of the letters to Babington had been 
found.' Even if Mary's trial were to take place, it 
was clear that a considerable interval must elapse 
between her arraignment and the execution of the 
conspirators ; and, in this interval, thought Elizabeth, 
what might not be attempted against her own life ? 
Though some of the leading conqirators were taken, 
yet many desperate men might still be lurking about 
Court; and so intensely did she feel upon this subject, 
that, on the evening of the 12th September, the very day 
before the trial, she sent repeated messages and letters 
to  Burghley, commandingthat, i n ihe  " Indictment " 
and in the evidence, there should be no enlargement 
of the Queen of Scots' crime. It was her favourite, 
Sir Christopher Hatton -- the ., Viee-chamberlain, who 

MS. Letter, St.$'. OF., 7Va!singhanl to  Phelippq 3d Sept.. 
I.;QG. 
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transmitted these wishes to Burghley ; and the reason 
he gave, was, that Elizabeth felt that it might be 
perilous to herself, if anything were given in evidence 
whicli touched Mary " criminally for her life."' 

Amid these alarms the trials proceecled ; and Ba- 
bington, Ba,llerd, and Savage, with the rest of the 
conspirators being found guilty, were executecl on the 
20th and 21st of September, with a studied cruelty, 
which it is revolting to find proceeded from Eliza- 
beth's special orders. 

She had a t  first suggested to her council, that some 
"new device" shoulcl be adopted to enhance their 
tortures, and strike more terror into the people ; to 
which it was answered by Burghley, that the manner 
of the execution prescribed by law, would be fully as 
terrible as a8ny other new device, if the l~a~ngman took 
care to "protract the action," to  the extremity of 
their pains, and to the sight of the multitude who 
beheld it.2 The executioner by special direction did 
so: but the sight of seven men cut up alive, after being 
partially strangled, was found to excite the rage and 
disgnst of the multitude; and nest day the second seven. 
were permitted to be executed after a milder fashion." 

But, leaving these cruel scenes, we must t1u.n to  
the unhappy Mary. On the 25th August, she was 
re~noved from Tixdl, to  her foimer residence a t  Chart- 
lev, under the charge of Sir Amias Paulet~, and a body 

1 MS. Letter, Burghley to Sir Christoplier Hatton, Sept. 12, 
1586, discovered by Mr Leigh, who is at present preparing .a 
work on Babington's Conspiracy. 

"ingard, vol. viii., 8vo edition, pp. 215, 21 G .  
3 Camden in Kennet*, vol. ii. p. 518. 
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of gentlemen of the neighbourl~oocl, to the number of a 
hundred and forty horse. This strong escort Eliza- 
beth thought necessary, from the suspicion that many 
coinmiserated her fate ; and indeed, Walsingham's let- 
ters betrayed considerable uneasiness on the subject. 
nut  his apprehensions were needless; for nothing could 
now be more utterly helpless than the situation of the 
royal captive. She had been deprived, during her 
stay at Tixall, of all her servants, and was surrounded 
by strangers. When seen coming from the gate of 
the castle, a crowd of poor people assembled round 
her; and on some asking alms, she answered, weeping, 
that she had nothing to give. All has been taken 
from me, said she: I am a beggar as well as you. 
Then turning to Sir Walter Ashton, the proprietor 
of Tixall, and the other gentlemen, she again burst 
into tears, exclaiming, "Good gcntlemen, I am not 
witting of anything intended against the Queen." On 
reaching Chartley Castle, her old prison, an affecting 
incident occurred. The wife of Curle her secretary, 
had been confined during the interval between Mary's 
removal and her return ; and before going to her 
own chamber, the Queen, with the affectionate con- 
sideration which she always showed to her servants, 
went to visit the mother and child. It was a fe- 
male; and turning to Paulet, who stood by, she begged 
him, since her own priest was removed from her, to 
suffer his chaplain to christen the babe, and give i t  
the name of Mary. It might have been imagined that 
Sir Amias, who co~~stantly. talked of Catholicism as 
idolatry, and bklieved Protestantism to be the truth, 



would have welcomed the proposal ; bnt he peremp- 
torily refused. The Queen said nothing at the time ; 
but retiring for a short season, came again into the 
room, and taking the infant on her knee, dipped her 
hand in a basin of water, and sprinkling its face, said, 
" Mary, I baptize thee, in the name of the Father, 
and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost." Paulet, in 
a letter to Walsingham, which described the scenc, 
affected to be shocked at a scandal which he might 
himself so easily have prevented. He was igno- 
rant, probably, that the Catholic Church, under sncli 
circumstances, permitted lay baptism ; but the man 
was of a perverse churlish temper-a strict Puritan ; 
and, as his letters often showed, more remarkable for 
his zeal than his charity.' Mary now proceeded to 
her own apartment ; and on reaching it, the keys of 
the chamber, and of her coffers, were offered to one of 
her servants, who had been at length suffered to attcntl 
on her : but the Queen commanded him not to receive 
them ; and bacle Mr Darrel, one of Paulet's assistants, 
open the door. He  did so ; and on entering, finding 
her papers seized, and her repositories empty, die 
expressed herself with deep indignation : declaring, 
that there were two things which the Queen of 
England could never take from her7-her English 
bloocl, ancl her Catholic religion. She the11 added, 
that some of them might yet be sorry for this ontrage; 
a threat which rufled a'nd disturbed P a ~ l e t . ~  

, MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Paulet to Walsingham, Aug. 22, 
1586. Ibid., same to the sanle, Aug. 24, 1586. Ibid., same to 
the same, Aug. 27, 1586. 

"1s. TJettcr. St. P. Off., Paulrt to TIr:ll-ingl~nni, A I I , ~ .  27,1586. 
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All the efforts of Elizabeth and Walsingham were 
now directed to collect conclusive evidence against 
the Scottish Queen. Her secretaries, Nau and Curle, 
were in their hands, and repeatedly examined ; but, 
up to the 3d of September, their confessions did 
not materially involve their mistress.' The evidence, 
connecting her with the general conspiracy for the 
invasion of the real&, was perfectly clear ; her cor- 
respondence with Frame, Spain, and Scotland, and 
her secret practices with the Catholics in England, 
was fully made out. But this was not considered 
enough ; and Walsingham, in despair, wrote to Phe- 
lipps, then a t  Chartley, that Nan and Curle would 
by no means be brought to confess that they were 
acquainted with the letters that passed between their 
mistress and Babington : adding, " I would to God 
that these minutes could be found !" "t is evident 
that, by these minutes, the Secretary meant such 
rough drafts, or notes of Mary's letters to Babington, 
as  he conjectured might be preserved in her reposi- 
tories: and here we ha,ve a clear admission that, unless 
such were fotuld, the evidence against the Scottish 
Queen was considered incomplete. At this moment 
of perplexity and difficulty, Burghley wrote to Sir 
Christopher Hatton, suggesting that it was terror for 
themselves that kept the Scottish Queen's secretaries 
silent : they refnsed, as he thought, to implicate theii- 
mistress, because it might bring ruin on themselves ; 

1 firS. St. P. Off., Walsingham to Phelipps, 3d Sept., 1586. 
2 fixS. I,etter, qt. P. Off., Walsingham to Phelipps, 3d Sept., 

1586. 
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but, he adclcd, assure them of safety, and then we shall 
have the whole truth frorn them. " Surely then, said 
he, (to use his own revolting expressions,) they will 
yield in writing somewhat to  confirm their mistress's 
crime, if they were persuaded that themselves might 
scape, and the blow fall upon their mistress, betwixt 
her head and her shoulders."l So jocularly could the 
aged Treasurer anticipate the scaffold and the block 
for thc unhappy victim whom he was so solicitous to  
mcrifice. On the same day (4th September) Wztlsing- 
ham wrote to Phelipps, who was then a t  Court. It 
was evident, he said, that Mary's "minutes were not 
extant." H e  directed him, therefore, to seek access 
t o  Elizabeth, and persuade her to promise some 
cxtraordinary favour to Curle, who had admitted, in 
general terms, his mistress's correspondence with Ba- 
bington, but obstinately refused to be more explicit.' 

Both this person Curle, and his brother secrctary, 
Nau, were, in truth, in a difficult dilemma. If they 
acknowlcdgcd that thc correspondence between thc 
Queen and Babington was in their handwriting, 
whether the letters were in written characters or in 
cipher, or whether they related simply to the project 
of invasion, or included an allusion to the plot.a8gainst 
Elizabeth's life, they stood convicted of treason. If 
they remained obstinate, they had before them the 
dreadful alternative of the Tower and the torture. 
They acted as might have been expected in such cir- 
cumstances : at first denied everything, and at length 

1 IfS. Letter, Burgllley to Sir Christoplier IIatton, Sept. 4, 
3586, discovered by Mr Leigh. Lingard, vol. viii. p. 219. 

4 MS. Lctter, St. P. OK, IValaingl~nnl to Phclipps, Sept. 4,1586. 
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made a partial admission, which increased the pre- 
sumptions, but was not conclusive, against the Scot- 
tish Queen. On the 5th September, the 'day after 
Burghley had written to Hatton, Nau, actuated, no 
doubt, by Hatton's promises of escape and pardon, 
described minutely the manner in which Mary man- 
aged her secret correspondence. The Queen, he said, 
would never allow anything secret or important , t o  
be written anywhere but in her cabinet, himself and 
Curle sitting at the table. It was her usual practice 
to dictate the points which she was pleased should 
be written; he took them down, read them over to  
her, drew out the letters, again submitted them for 
correction, and finally delivered them to be put into 
cipher ancl disposed of according to her orders. ID 
this ina8niier were written the intercepted letters of 
the Queen to the ilrchbishop of Glasgow, Charles 
I'aget, and the Spanish Ambassador: but as to the 
letter to Babington, he declared that his lilistress had 
delivered it to hiin for the most part written in her 
own hand.'. It was Curle, he said, who finally trans- 
lated and put the letters in cipher; and this game 
process had taken place with this letter as with the 
rest. This evidence was far from being sufficiently 
explicit or satisfactory ; and various attempts were 
made to amend it. Burghley no~v tlirea,tened Nau 
with the Tower ;2 and t,he terror of his commitment 

1 11s. St. P. Off., Sept. 5,1596. Endorsed in Phelipps' hand,- 
r.6tll Sept., Copie, Nau, l ~ i s  C'onfession of the manner of writing and 
ma]<ing up his Ifistress' pacqnets; ancl that she wrote Babington's . m letters with her a,wn band." 

2 Letter, ~ n r ~ t l e ~  to VTnlsingham, Sept. 8, 1586 ; in Ellis, 
vol. iii. p. -5. 
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drew from him, on the 10th September, a lo~ig de- 
claration, addressed privately to Elizabeth; which 
Burghley threw aside as of no importance, as it did not 
charge the Scottish Queen with a$ny clirect accession 
to the conspiracy for Elizabeth's death, but simply 
with having previously known that such a plot ex- 
isted? The Queen, he affirmed, had neither invented 
nor desired, nor in any way meddled with this plot, 
but had confined herself to  the designs for the invasion 
of the realm and her escape; and a t  this crisis the 
nnfortnnate letter from Babington had arrived, which 
Mary had received, but did not consider herself bonncl 
to reveal. It is qnite clear that this declaration, 
wrung out from Nan, did not corroborate, bnt rather 
contradicted the alleged letter of the Scottish Queen 
to  Babingto11,-a sufficient reason why Burghlejr 
should have disregarded it. After an interval of 
eleven days, Nan and Curle were a,gain exaininecl 
before the Lord Cha,ncellor, Bnrghley, ancl Sir Chris- 
topher Hat,ton. Rabington and his companions had 
been executed the day before : on that same morning 
seven more conspirators hscl been clramn t,o Tyburn. 
I n  the interval between this examination and their 
last, Ballard had been so "racked" that he was car- 
ried to the bar and arraigned in a chair ;%nd it was 
hoped that, under the influence of terror for a similar 
fate, the secretaries would declare all. Of this last 

1 MS. St. P. Off., Sept. 10, 1.586. Endorsed, " Nau's long 
declaration o f  tllings of no importance, sent privately to her 
R1ajesty."-This endorsation is wholly in Burghley's hantl. 

!L &[P. St. P. Off., Fecret Ailrertiqenlents, Babington, fiept. lG, 
1.786. 



examination no perfect account has been preserved : 
but in an originaI minute drawn up by Phelipps, it is 
stated that Nau coilfessed that Curle had deciphered 
Babington's letter to Mary : that he (Nau) afterwards 
took down, from her dictation, the points of her 
answer ; in which his mistress required Rabington to  
consider what forces they might raise, what towns 
they might assure, where were the fittest places to  
assemble, what foreign forces were required, what 
inoney they shonld demand, what were the means by 
which the six gentlemen deliberated to proceed, and 
in what manner she should be gotten out of the hold 
she was in.' Nau added, that there was one other 
clanse of his mistress's letter to Ba,bington, in which 
she advised the six gentlemen to have about them 
four stout men with good horses, who, as soon a s  
their purpose was executed, were to bring speedy 
intelligence to the party appointed to trailsport the 
Queen of Scots., This statement of Nau was corro- 
borated by Curle; who added, that his mistress wished 
him to bum the English copy of the letters sent to  
Bsbington." 

I t  was now co~lsidered that there was sufficient 
evidence against the Queen of Scots, and there only 
remained the question of the mode of trial ; nor was 
this long in deliberation. Elizabeth held a speciaI 
consultation with Burghley on the 24th September ; " 
and after considerable discussion and delay in the 

1 MS. St. P, Off., September 21, 1586. 
"~ardwicke Papers, vol. i. p. 237. 
3 RfS. Letter, A. P. Off., B~rrrgllley to Phelipps, Sept. 24, l,Je6. 



Privy-council, a commission was issued on the 5th 
October to  thirty-six individuals, including Peers, 
Privy-councillors, and Judges, directing them to in- 
quire into, and determine all offences cominitted 
against the statute of the 27th of the Queen, either 
by Mary, daughter and heiress of James the Fifth, 
late King of Scotland, or by any other person whom- 
soever.' Chasteauneuf, the French Ambassador, 
having heard of these proceedings, demanded, in the 
name of his master, that the Scottish Queen should 
have counsel assigned her for her defence ; but this 
was peremptorily refused; and on the 6th of Octo- 
ber, Sir Amias Paulet, Sir Walter Mildmay, and Mr 
Barker; a, notary, waited on Mary a t  Fotheringay 
Castle, in Northamptonshire, to which place she had 
been removed from Chmtley, and delivered her a 
letter from their mistress. It stated briefly ancl 
severely, that to her great and inestimable grief, she 
understood that Mary pretended, with great protes- 
tations, to have given no assent to, and even to  have 
been ignorant of, any attempt against her State and 
person. It asserted, that the contrary would be 
verified by the clearest proofs ; that she had, there- 
fore, sent some of her chief and ancient noblenleii 
to  charge her with having coilsented to that most 
horrible and unnatural conspiracy lately discovered ; 
that, living as she did within the protection of, and 
thereby subject to  her laws, she must abide by the 
mode of trial which they enjoined ; and &he, there- 
fore, required her to  give credit to  those noblemen' 

1 Lingard, vol. viii. p. 222. 
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who held her commission under the Great Seal, and 
make answer to whatever they objected against her? 

Mary read the English Queen's letter with great 
composure. " I cannot but be sorry," said she, " that 
my sister is so ill informed against me, as to have 
treated every offer made by myself, or my friends, 
with neglect. I am her Highness' nearest kinswo- 
man, and have forewarned her of coming dangers ; 
but have not been believed : and latterly, ' the as- 
sociation' for her Majesty's preservation, and the Act 
passed upon it, have given me ample warning of all 
that is intended against me. It was easy to be fore- 
seen, that every danger which might arise to my 
sister from foreign Princes, or private persons, or for 
matter of religion, woulcl be laid to my charge. I 
know I have many enemies about the Queen. Wit- 
ness my long captivity ; the studied indignities I 
have received ; and now this last association between 
my sister and my son, in which I was not consulted, 
and which has been concluded without my consent. 
As to my answer to the accusation now made, (con- 
tinued Mary,) her Majesty's letter is indeed written 
after a strange sort. It seems to me to partake of 
the nature of a coininand ; and it is, perhaps, expected 
that I am to reply as a subject. What !" she then 
exclaimed, catching fire at  the word, whilst her eye 
flashed, and the colour, for a brief space, rose in her 
cheek ; " does not your mistress lmow that I m7as 
born a Queen? and thinks she, that I will so far 
prejudice my rank and state, the blood whereof I am 

1 NS.Wmft, St. P. Off., October 5, 1586. 
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descended, the son who is to foIlow me, and the foreign 
Kings and Princes, wllose rights would be wounded 
through me, as to come and answer to such a letter 
as that ? Never ! Worn down as I may appear, my 
heart is great, and will riot yield to any affliction. 
Bxt why discuss these matters ? Her Majesty knows 
the protestation I have once before made to the Lord 
Chancellor and Lord Delaware ; and by that I still 
abide. I an1 ignorant of the laws and statutes of 
this realm : I am destitute of counsel : I know not 
who can be my competent Peers: my papers have 
been taken from me ; and nobody dareth, or will 
speak in my behalf, though I am innocent. I have 
not procured or encouraged any hurt against your 
mistress. Let her convict me by my words, or by 
my writings. Sure I am neither the one nor the 
other can be produced against me. Albeit, I am free 
to  confess, that, when my sister had rejected every 
ofl'er which I made, I remitted myself and my 
cause to foreign Princes."' A few days after this 
spirited and dignified answer was reported to Eliza- 
beth, the thirty-six commissioners arrived at Fother- 
ingay, and chose a deputation from their number to 
wait upon the Queen; who, after four successive in- 
terviews with them, adhered to her resolution, and 
declined their jurisdiction. Into the clear and coa- 
vincing reasons which she alleged for this proceeding, 
it is unnecessary to enter, although it is impossible 

l MS. St. P. Off., October 12, 1586. Tlie Scottish Queen's firet 
Answer.;. 
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ilot to be struclc with the spirit, ability, and talent, 
with which, unbefriended and unassisted by any one, 
she held her ground against the subtlety and perse- 
verance of her assailants. On one of these occasions, 
turning to theLord Chancellor Bromley, she requested 
him to explai~l the meaning of that passage in the 
Queen of England's letter, which affirmed that she 
was subject to the laws of England, and lived under 
the Queen's protection. " I came," said she, " into 
Jhgland to request assistance, and I was instantly 
imprisoned. I s  that protection ? " Bromley was 
taken by surprise, and contented himself by an eva- 
sion. The meaning of their royal mistress, he said, 
was plain ; but, being subjects, it was not their part 
to interpret it.' Elizabeth was immediately informed 
of this determined refusal of Mary. She learned, at  
the same time, the resolution of her commissioners to 
hear the evidence, and pronounce sentence, although 
the accused declined to plead; and she wrote pri- 
vately to Burghley the Lord Treasurer, commanding 
him and the other commissioners not to pronounce 
sentence till they had repaired to her presence, and 
made a report of the whole  proceeding^.^ 

It would have been well for Mary had she adhered 
to this first resolution ; but some expressions of Sir 
Christopher Hatton the , Vice-chamberlain, made a 

1 Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 521. 
3 MS. Letter, copy, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. is. fol. 332. The 

English Queen to Lord Bnrghley, Oct. 12. MS. St. P. Off., The 
Q ~ ~ e e n  to the Lord Treasurer, and the Commissioners ; a draft, in 
Secretary Dn;visdQYs hand. 
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deep impression up011 her. He had insinuated that 
her declining to answer would be interpreted as an 
admission of guilt : he implored her to remember 
that even if she refused to appear before the commis- 
sioners, (for hitherto Mary had received their depu- 
tation in her private chamber,) they rnust proceed 
against her in absence ; and at the same moment, she 
received a brief and menacing note from Elizabeth ; 
in which severity, if she remained obstinate, was 
blended artfully with a promise of favour, should she 
relent. It was in these words :- 

" You have in various ways attempted to deprive 
me of my life, and to bring ruin on my kingdom, by 
shedding of blood. I have never proceeded so 
hardly against you; but, on the contrary, have che- 
rished and preserved you as faithfully as if you were 
my own self. Your treasons will be proved and 
made manifest to you in that place where you now, 
are. For this rea~son, it is our pleasure that you 
answer to the nobility and barons of my kingdom as 
you would do to myself were I there in person ; and 
s s  my last injunction, I charge and command you to 
reply to  them. I have heard of your arrogance ; but 
act candidly, and you may meet with more favour.- 
ELIZABETH? 

W e  may imagine the bitter smile with which the 
royal captive read this letter, in which Elizabeth, in 
the nineteenth year of her imprisonment, tool< credit 

l This is translated from the French of Chmteauneuf, (Life of 
Tl~omas Egerton, Lord Chancellor, p. 86,) who says he translates it 
word for word from the English original. Lingard, vol. viii. p. 223. 



to  herself for the kindness and protection die had 
extended to  Mar?. Ijnt there was a menace in its 
t o~ lc  which shoolr her resolutioiz : thc last sentencc 
held orlt a hope of farom : she had no one to  advise 
with ; and after a night of much suspense ancl troublc, 
she consented to asppear before the commissioners. 

The Court was held on Friday the 14th October, in 
the great hall a t  Fotheringay, which had been preparccl 
for the purpose, having, at  tlic upper cnd, a chair and 
canopy of state. It bore the arms of England only, 
and Mary was not suffered to  occupy it. On each 
side of the room were benches for the commissioner,r. 
On one hancl sat the LordChai~cellor~roinley, the Lord 
High Treasllrer Rurgllley, R-it11 t l ~ e  Earls of Osforcl. 
Kent, Derby, Worcester, Rntlancl, Cumberland, JJ7ar- 
wick, Pembrokc, and Lincoln : on the other, the 
llords Abergavcnny, Zoucli, Morley, Stafford, Grey, 
Lnmley, and other peers. Near to thcsc were 
the knights of the Privy-conncil, Crofts, Hatton, 
Walsingham, Sadler, Mildmap, and Ptt~~lct.  At 
a short distance in advance wcrc  laced the two 
('l~ief Justices of England and the Chief Baron 
of the Exchequer : opposite them, the other j u ~ -  
tices and barons, with two cloctora of tlic civil 
In~v;  and a t  a table in the micldle sat Popham tlie 
(2rteen's Attorney-general, Egei.ton the Solicitor- 
(yencral, Gawdy the Queen's Sergeant-at-law, the m 

Clerk of the Crown, and tn-o writers to take clown 
the Before the bar stood such gentle- 
men and others as mere permitted to he present. 

C 1 Ilowel, l1  7.7. 
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Oln this day, a t  nine in the morning, Ma;ry, attended 
by a, guard of lialberdiers, and lcaning on Sir Andrew 
Melvil and her physician, entered the court. She 
was dressed in black, with a veil of tvhite lam-11 
tllroi\\~\rn over her. One of her nlaids of lionour car- 
ried her train, another a chair covered with crimson 
velvcet, another a footstool ; and as she walked to her 
seat,, it was observed that she was lame and required 
support? On coming into the middle of this august 
assembly, the Queen bowed to  the lords : then ob- 
serving that her chair was not allowed to be placecl 
xndaer the canopy of state, but loa~cr, and a t  t l ~ e  
side!, slie appeared to feel the indignity. " I am a 
Queen," said she, looking proudly and resentfully for 
s moment. " I have married a King of France ; and 
my seat ought t o  be there." But the feeling was 
brief; and her features assumid again their melan- 
cho~ly cast, as she regarded the multitude of peers, 
stattesmen, and judges. " Alas !" said she, " here are 
mamy counsellors, and yet there is not one for me." a 

PIa,ving then seated herself with great dignity, the 
Lord Chancellor stood up and declared, that the 
Quteen's Majesty had a t  last determined to bring her 
t o  trial, in consequence of the practices used by her 
against her life : that she wa.s not moved to this by 
personal fear, or from any malice; but because, if she 

Brit. Bfus., copy, Caligula, C. is., fa), 333. Order of the 
Pro)ceedings at the arraignment of the late nnfortunate Queen of 
Fcobts at Fotheringay. 

?'  Chasteauneuf to Henry the Third, from the King's Library at 
Panis, 30th Oct., 1586; printed in Life of Lord Chancellor Egerton, 
1). $6. 
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failed to  do so, she would be guilty of neglecting thc 
cause of God, and of hearing the sword in vain. He  
was followed by Burghley the ~ o r d  Treamrer, who 
requested her to  hear their commission, which was 
read by the clerk. On its conclusion, Mary rose up 
and answered that it was well known to  all nom 
present, that she had come into England to  require 
:tssistance ; and, contrary to all law a,nd.justice, had 
been made a prisoner. As for any commission, em- 
powering them to bring her to trial, no one could 
gmnt it, because no one was her superior. She was 
a, free Princess, an anointed Queen, subject to  none 
but God; she had already delivered a protestation to 
this effect, and she desired her servants to bear 
witness that her answers were now made wider this 
protestation? Sergeant Gawdy spoke next: entered 
into a naxrative of the R-hole plot, and brought for- 
vard the arguments, by which (he contended) it must be 
:!pparent to all, that t h e ~ c o t t i s h ~ u e e n  was acquainted 
with the conspiracy against the life of Elizabeth. He  
explained Ballard's dealing with Morgan and Paget 
in France, the conspiracy for the invasion of England, 
and his repair to that country for the purpose of 
completing the plot; he adverted to the transactions 
between Ballard and Bztbington, to  the formation 
of the new conspiracy against the life of the English 
Queen ; to  the renewal of the correspondence between 
Mary and Babington, which took place at this mo- 
ment ; and he concluded by contending that she had 

1 &den, vol. ii. of Kcnnet, p.1522, 



approved of the plot, had l)roniised 11cr asaist.ancc, 
and pointecl out the readiest mode for its execntion.' 

To this 34ary answered, that she hacl never seen 
Anthonyv Babinpton, nor receivecl any letter frorn 
!limy nor herself written any to Iliin ; that elic knc~\- 
nothing of Ball:lrd, siicl liacl never relie~ed him ; as 
for the Catholics of England, tliey were opprcssccl 
and took inany things hardly. Tliis slie l i l l c ~ ,  and 
had representecl it to the Queen her sistel; iii~ploriiig 
her to take pity on them. Shc ackno~vlcclgcd, also, 
that she had received offers of assistance from ano- 
~ l g n ~ o u s  corrcspoildei~ts, but she hacl not cn~brncctl 
such offers ; and how was it possible for n captil-e, 
shut up in prison, to seaqrcli out tlie names or the 
illtentions of unkno~vn persoils, or to hinclcr ~vliat 
they attemptecl? It was possible that Bnbingtorl 
hail written such a letter as lie described, but lct 
them prol-e that it had come into her hantls;' and a.;;, 
for her own letters, let them produce theill, and she 
-1vou1d know wliat to ansn-er. 

Copies of tlic letter from I)abing+ton to the Qnccl~ 
-raf Scots, ancl of JIary's allcgecl ai1s11-er, were then 
wad; Babington's mit ten confcssioil was also cllxotecl, 
besides the confessions of Dun, TitchBonrne, and Eal- 
lard, tliree of his fellow conspirators; and it was 
contended by the Attorney-general Puckering, ailcl b-~- 
the Lord Treasurer Burghle?;, that nothing conlcl be 
dearer tha8il the evidence thus aclduced, of clirect con- 
nirance and approval. Mar!, ~vi th gmat readines:d; 

MS. Brit. Rlus., C!alignla, C. is. fol. 832. IIOXVCI)~ Ptntc 
7'rklq, yol. i. pp. l 171, 1182. ' C'nintlcl~. 11. 5.79. 



~'eylic~l, that nll this evidence ~ ~ n s  second-hand, or 
hcarsay. They spoke of the letters ~~d i i ch  she had 
received, of the answers she had sent; and they brought 
forward copies of a long letter from a man whom s l ~ e  
had never seen, and a detailed answer, point by poiuf, 
which she had never mitten. Was this garblecl and 
maiinfactured e~idence to be produced against her?' 
T~ct them produce the ~rigina~ls of these let'ters, if 
such originals ever csisted. V Babington's letter 
was in cipher, as was alleged, she would then be able 
to conlpare the cipher with the copy now before 
them, to test the one by the other, a~ id  to cliscover- 
xhetlier it really was written in her alphabet or secret 
cipher, of 11711icli it was possiblc that her cnemics 
might, by some treachery or other, have procured n 

copy. And, as for her alleged letter to Babington, 
if it, too, was written in cipher, and thc origina'l ha1 
been intercepted by thein,~vhywasit not nomproduced? 
I f  she was entitled to call for the original of Rnbing- 
ton's alleged letter to her, much more were her ac- 
cusers bound to produce the original of hcr pretended 
letter to Babington. She would then be able to cs- 
nlnine it, to disprove it, and to detect the fraud whicIl - 

lind been practiscd against her. At prese~lt she must 
be coiltented with a siinple and solem~l denial that 
she had not written the letters ~ ~ r l ~ i c l ~  had been now 
rend, and that she was guiltless of any plot a3ainst 
tlie life of the Queen of England. 

1 Avis de ce qui a ertc faict en A~lgIeterre par IIonsieur dc Be]- 
lievre sur les affaires de La Royne D'Eecosse. Published in 
ton's Life of Lord A~nnccllor Egerton, pp. 98, 103. 
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" I c10 not deny," said she, weeping, " that I have 
longed for liberty, and earnestly laboured to pro- 
cure it. Nature impelled me to do so ; but I call 
God to witness, that I have never conspired the 
death of the Queen of England, or consented to it. 
I confess that I have written to  my friends, and soli- 
cited their assistance in my escape from her miserable 
prisons, in which she has now kept me a captive 
Queen for nineteen years: but I never wrote the let- 
ters now produced against me. I confess, too, that 
1 have written often in favour of the persecuted 
Catholics; and had I been able, or, even now at this 
moment were I able, to save them from their miseries 
by shedding my own blood, I would have done i t ;  
and would non7 do it : but what connesion has this 
with any plot against the life of the Queen? and h& 
can I answer for the dangerous designs of others, 
which are carried on without my knom~ledge ? It was 
but lately, she added, that I received a letter from 
some unknown persons, entreating my pardon if they 
attempted anything without my kno~vledgc."' 

To  this Burghley, who had taken a11 along a most. 
active part against her, undertook the reply; insisting 
strongly on the written confession of Babington, and 
the declarations of her omTn secretaries, Curle and 
Nau. This confession, and these declarations, sub- 
scribed by the parties themselves who made them, 
were now on the table, and they proved, he said, in 
the clearest manner, the correspondence between 

1 Ayis de Monsieur Bellierrc, p. 103. Camden, p. 523. 



the Queen arid Babington. The whole history of i t  
was developed point by point, it was opened by the 
brief notes written sometimes by Curle, sometimes 
by Nau; it was they who had deciphered the letters 
of Babington, and communicated their contents t o  
their mistress. Nay, the exact manner had been 
specified, in which the answer had been prepared by 
Nau. I t  was composed partly from minutes by the 
Queen, and from verbal dictation; it was written out 
a t  length in French, revised by Mary, translated and 
put into cipher by Curle, and then secretly sent t o  
its destination. The letters also of the Scottish 
Queen to Englefield, of a date as far back as 9th 
October, 1584, proved, as he said; that the great plot, 
for the invasion of England, was then in agitation; 
her letter to Charles Paget, oil the 21st of May last, 
(1586,) showed its re~uinpt~ion at that period; the 
letter of Charles Paget to the Scottish Queen, of the 
29th May, connected her with Ballard and Mendoza 
the Spanish Ambassador; and the letters of the 27th 
July, to  Lord Paget, Sir Francis Englefield, Mendoza, 
the Bishop of Glasgow, and Charles Paget, corrobor- 
ated not only the confessions of the conspirators, but 
the contents of the letters between her and Babing- 
ton, and the written testimony of her own secretaries. 

During this address of the Lord Treasurer, he had 
occasion to mention the Earl of Arundel, as impli- 
cated in some degree, with the conspiracy; upoil 
which Mary burst into tears, and lamented, with 
passionate expressions, the calamities which the noble 

4 
House of Howa~d  hacl endured for her sn!:e; but, 
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so011 drying hcr cyes, and reass~uining her dignity :md 
composure, she once more, in reply to tlie arguments 
of the Lord Treasurer, asseverated lier ir~iiocence of 
ally plot against theQueen's life. What Babiiigton (she 
saicl) might, or might not Eoiifess against lier, she 11-as 
ignorant of; neither was it possible for her to say or 
cliscover, whether this written confession was in 11is 
l~nndwriting or not. But why had they executed him 
beforc they had coafronted him with herself, ancl 
permitted her to exainiiie hiiii? If he 1verc ilow before 
them, slie ~vould ha1~e so dcalt 1vitli liiin, that tlic 
truth would have colne out; but they bad taken good 
care to ~nalie this impossible. Aud the same thing 
might hc saicl of Nan and Cturle ; tvliy was slie not 
coiifroiited ~ 6 t h  theill? Why was she not pern~itted 
to esaminc thein ? They at least, were ali1-e : tli'ey 
might liave been here if her adversaries liacl felt con- 
fident tliat they wo~~lcl have corroboratecl their mrittcn 
confessions. Cnrle, she was assurctl, was an holiest 
inan, though it was strange to fiiicl olic in liis station 
aclduced as n witness against lier. Nan I T ~ S  a 11101.c 
politic and talented person ; he had been secretary to  
$he Cardinal Lorrain, ancl she had received recoin- 
mendations in his favour, from her brother, tlie Frenclt 
King ; but die was by no ~neans assured tliat liopc., 
or fear, or reward, might iiot have infloencccl him to 
give false evideilce a p i i ~ s t  her; and it was well kiio11-11 
t,liwt he had Curle at liis beck, a11cl conlrl nialie liiin 
nrrite wliatever he pleasecl. I t  was asserted truly, that 
her letters viere writ ten, aiid put ill to cipher, by these 
secretaries. But 1\-h3t security hacl she, that they 
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hacl not iilscrtecl into them sucll tliillgs as she 
llacl never dictated? Was it  not possible, also, 
that they might harc received letters addressed 
to her, which they never delivered ? was it not 
possible that they might have answered letters in 
her name, and in her ciphel; which she had never 
seen? "And am I," said she, with great animation and 
tlignity, "am I, a Queen, to be convicted on such evi- 
deizce as this? I s  it  not apparent, that the inajesty 
:~nd safety of Princes falls to the gronncl, if they are 
to depend upon the writings and testilnol~y of their 
secretaries? I have delivered nothing to them, but 
what ilature dictatecl to me, uildcr the desire of re- 
covering my liberty; and I claim the privilege of being 
coilvictecl by notl~ing but mine on7n word, or writing. 
If they 11a.r~ tvritten anytlling ~vhicl1 lnay be hurtful 
to the Queen, my sister, they llavc written it alto- 
gether without my 9inotvledgc : let them bear the 
punishment of their inconsiderate bolclucsa. Sure I 
:tm, that if they were here present, they would clear 
me of all blame in this cause : and still more certain 
am I, that had my papers not been seized, 2nd were 
I not tllns deprived of my ilotes and letters, I coulcl 
have more successfully and minutely ans~~~erecl every 
~ o i n t  whic11 haa bee11 so bitterly argned i~gainst me."' 

I11 the course of thcse proceeclings (for it 1~ou13 be 
lulljust to call that a trial, where the prisoner was de- 
lxived of counsel, not permitted access to her papesE, 
ancl clebttl.red from calling witncsses) Mary lnacle a 

31s. Brit. JIus., Glignla, is. fol. 3S3. IIon-cl's State Trial., 
v t J .  i. 1'1). 1182, 1183. -\]so Cnmdcn in k'cnnct, vol. ii. p. 52.7. 
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direct attack on Secretary Walsingllam, in speaking of 
the facility with which her letters and ciphers might 
be counterfeited. "What security have I," said she, 
"that these are my very ciphers? a young man lately 
in France, has been detected forging my characters. 
Think you, Mr Secretary, that I am ignorant of your 
devices used so craftily against me ? Your spies sur- 
rounded me on every side; but you know not, perhaps, 
that some of your spies on me proved false,and brought 
intelligence to me. And if such have been his doings 
my lords," she continued, appealing to the assembly, 
"how can I be assured that lie hath not counterfeited 
my ciphers to bring me t o  my death? Has he not 
already practised against my life, and that of my 
son ? " Upon this, Walsingham, rising i11 his place, 
warmly disclaimed the imputation. " I call God t o  
witness, said he, that as a private person, I have done 
nothing unbeseeming an honest ban ,  nor as a public. 
servant of my royal mistress, anything unworthy of 
my office ; but I plead guilty to my having been ex- 
ceeding careful for the safety of the Queen, and this 
realm. I have curiously searched out every practice 
against both: nor if Bdlarcl, t,he traitor, had offered me 
his help in the investigation, would I have refused it. 
With this plausible, but really indirect and evasive 
disavowal, Mary declared herself satisfied; and after 
some arguments of the Lord Treasurer, and the crown 
lawyers, which it is unnecessary to notice, the Court 
adjourned till next morning. 

The proceedings on the second day were not ma- , 
terially different from the first. Mar? was still alone, 



unassisted, and it may be added, undismayed; al- 
though at times she gave way to tears, and seemed 
to  feel her desolate condition. She renewed her 
protestation, declining the jurisdiction of the Court ; 
and demanded that it ~honld be recorded. As to the 
plot itself of which she was accused, some little vari- 
ation took place in her mode of defence. On the 
former day, she had been wholly ignorant of the cir- 
cumstances which mere to be brought against her; 
and had commenced her defence by a general denial 
or disavowal of all treasonable correspondence. She 
was now aware of the evidence, and pal-tially ad- 
mitted and defended her letters to  Morgan, Paget, ancl 
Mendoza; she even acknowledged such notes as, by 
her secretaries acting under her orders, had been sent 
to Babington ;l but she again most pointedly asserted, 
that these notes and letters referred solely to the 
project for her escape. This project, she said, i t  
was perfectly justifiable in her to encourage by every 
means, even by the invasion of the realm: she then 
reiterated her denid of being accessary to the con- 
spiracy against the Queen's person ; and entered into 
a, detail of her repeated offers of accommodation made 
t o  that Princess. It had been her sincere desire, she 
affirmed, to  remove everygronnd of dissatisfactionfrom 
the mind of her sister; but her proposals were dis- 
allowed, or suspected, or despised; so tha,t, remaining 
a captive, she was driven to practices for her escape. 
"And now," said she, "with w h ~ t  injustice is thiscause 



collductccl against inc ! my letters :we garbled, a d  
TT-rested from their true meaning : the originals kept 
from me : no respect shown to the religion w~liich 1 
profess, or the sacred character I bea,r as a Queen. If 
careless of 111y personal feelings, tliinls: at least, nly 
lords, of the royal n~?jesty which is wounded t11rougl;ll 
11ic : think of the precedent you arc creating. Your 
c)~vn Queen was licrsclf accused of a participation in 
TVyatt's plot ; yet she was innocent. And I-Icaven 
is my w~itness that, although a good Catholic, ancl 
~nxious for the welfare and safety of all who profess 
that faith, I would shudder to purchase it at the price 
of blood. The life of the llleanest of iny people, has 
hecn ever clcar to me; and far rather voulcl I plead 
wit11 Esthel; than take tlic sword wit11 Jndith ; 
though I liilow the character that has been given me 
hy my cnemics, and how tliey Brand ~neas irreligious." 
She the11 solemnly appealed to God, and to all foreign- 
Princes, against the injustice with wliicli shc had beeit 
treatecl. "Icaineinto England,"sliecscl~iiii~cd, "rel~ling 
on the friendship and promises of the Queen of Eng- 
land. I c~ine, relying on that token wvhich she sent 
me. IIerc, iny  lord^," she said, drawing a ring from 
licr finger, and show~ring it to her judges ; "here it is, 
scgard it ~wrell: it came from your royal mistress. 
And trusting to that pledge of love and protection, I 
canle amongst you :l you can best tell how that pledge 
has been rcdeemcd. I desire, said she, in conclusion, 
that I may have another day of hearing. I claiin the 



pri~ilege of having an aclvocate to pleacl lny cause; 
01; being a queen, that I may be belie~cd 11l)on the 
~ r o r d  of a queen."' 

The t,ask of answering this appeal, was again un- 
clertaken by Bnrghley, who recapitulated the evidence 
:~gajnst her ; Mary frequently interrupting him by 
:tsscverations of her innocence, ancl a dcmancl for more 
decided proof. I t  woulcl now have been the time 
for the commissioners to deliver their opinions, ancl 
to  pronounce sentence; but, to the surprise of many 
present, tlie Court broke up, having acljourned their 
meet-ing to the 23th Octobel; a t  Westminster. The 
:~lleged ground of this abrupt measure, was the in- 
forma,lity of pronouncing sentence before the record, 
or official report of the procecdiiigs, was completed : 
tlie true cause, was the secret letter of Elizabeth 
:~lreacly quotecl.' 

On the same day, on which the Conrt broke up, tt;c 
IIig11 Treasurer repaired to his country seat of Burgh- 
Icy, froin which he wrote the following letter to Davi- 
son. It is valuable, as illustrating the real character 
of so noted a statesman as Lord Blxrghley : the appro- 
I),ztion with which he spcaks of his own eloquence; the 
complacent description he gives of his success in coun- 
teracting the pity which most generous minds would 
h:we felt for Mary7s desolate condition; and the cold 
slleer with which he styles her the " Queen of the 
Castle," are all in keeping with his foriner mlfeelillg 

1 Canldcn, pp. 524,-535. 
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witticism, on the probability of the blow falling be- 
tween her neck and shoulders. Here is his letter. 

" Mr Secretary. Ycsternight, upon receipt of your 
letter, dated on Thursday, I wrote what was thouglit 
mould be this day's work. The Queen of the Castle 
was content to appear again afore us in public, to be 
heard: but, in truth, not to be heard for her defence; 
for she would say nothing but negatively, that the 
points of the letters that concerlied the practice 
against the Queen's Majesty were never by her 
written, nor of her knowledge. The rest, for invasion, 
for escaping by force, she said she will neither deny 
nor affirm. But her intention was, by long artificial 
speeches, to move pity ; to lay all blame upon the 
Queen's Majesty, or rather on the Council, that all the 
troubles past did ensue ; avowing her reasonable offers 
and our refusals. And in this her speeches I did so 
encounter her with reasons out of my knowledge and. 
experience, as she had riot that advantage she looked 
for; as I am assured the auditory did find her case 
not pitoyable, [and] her allegations untrue, by which 
means great debate fell yesternight very long, and 
this day renewed with great stoniaching. But we had 
great reason to prorogue our Session till the 25th; 
and so'we of the Council will be at Court on the 22d; 
and we find all persons here in commission fully 
satisfied, as, by her Majesty's order, judgment mill be 
given at our next meeting." l 

The same day, Walsingl~am wrote on the same' 

1 ITS. Lettter, Brit. JIus., Caligula, C. is. fol. 433. Bui*ghley 
t o  Davison, 15th Oct., 1586; since, Ellis, vol. i. p. 13. 
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subject to Leicester, declaring that even Mary's best 
friends thought her guilty; and adding, that but for 
a secret com~nand of Elizabeth, they would have 
pronounced sentence. This delay and illdecision 
appears to have so greatly annoyed the Secretary, 
that he represented it as a judgment from heaven, 
that her Majesty had no power to proceed against 
her as her own safety required.' 

On the25tll of October, thecommissioners met in the 
Star-chamber at Ivestminster, and the same proofs 
were adduced against the Scottish Queen which had 
been brought forward a t  Fotheringay; with the excep- 
tion that her secretaries, Nau and Curle, were now 
examined, and corroborated their letters and confes- 
s i o n ~ . ~  The former confessions of these two secretaries 
had been unsatisfactoryto Walsingham and Burghley ; 
they proved the Queen to 'have received letters from 
Babington, and t'o have dictated to them certain an- 
swers in reply ; but judging from the imperfect papers 
which remain,' there was no certain proof in their 
confessions, that Mary had dictated the passages 
which implied a knowledge of the conspiracy against 
Elizabeth's life; and, on this second occasion at 
Westminster, they merely corroborated their former 
~onfessions.~ But Nau, if we may trust his own 
account, did more ; for he openly asserted that the 

MS. Letter, Caliyla, C. ix. fol. 415, RTalsinghanl to Leicester, 
15th Oct., 1586. 
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~riacipal  points of accusation against his royal mis- 
tress tvcre false; and, refusing to be silelrced by MTal- 
singham who attempted to overawe and put him down, 
he declarecl that the coinmissioners ~vould have to 
answer to Gocl and all Christian I<ings, if, on such 
falsc charges, they condemned an innocent Princess.' 

Into these proceedings against Mary a t  West-. 
ininster it is unnecessary to enter farther. At 
Fotheriiigaywe had the accuscd IF-ithont thewitnessee, 
a t  the Star-chamber we have the witnesses without 
thc accused; for Mary remained at Fotheringaj- 
under the morose superintendence of Paulet, whilst 
the investigation proceeded a t  WTestminster, directed 
by tlie inc1ef:btigable ancl unrelenting Burghley. 
I-Iaving heard the evidence, the comn~issioners, as 
was to be anticipated, pronounced sentence against 
thc Queen: declaring that, since the 1st of June, in 
the 27th year of Elizabeth, divers matters had been 
cornpassed and imagined within this realm of Englancl, 
l>y ,4nthonyv Babington and others, with the privity 
of the Queen of Scots, tending to the hurt, death, 
and destruction of the royal person of her Majesty 
the Queen of Ei~gland.~ They intimated, at  the same' 
"cinc, with the object of conciliating the Scottisli 
King, that nothing in this sentence shonld affect 
Jan~es'  title to thc English crown; which should rc- 
main exactly in the same state as if the proceedings 
a t  Foth~ringa~y had never taken place. 

A fen7 clays after this, Parliament met. and after 

1 Lingard, vol. viii. p. 220. 
? Hovel, vol. i. p. 1180. 



approving and confirming this sentence, unanimously 
petitioned Elizabeth, as she valued Christ's true reli- 
gion, the security of the realm, her ornil life, and the 
safety of themselves and their posterity, to  consent 
that the sentence against the Queen of Sdots shoultl 
be published. To enforce their rcq~~est ,  they called 
to  her remembrance the anger of God against San1 
mrhen he spared Agag king of the Amalekites, and his 
displeasure with Ahab for pardoning Ben11adad.l 

The answer of Elizabeth was striking; and probably 
sincere, except in the pity and sorrow it expressed 
for Mnry. She acknowledged, with expressions of 
deep gratitude to  ~ o d ,  her almost miraculous preser- 
vation; and professed the delight she experienced, 
after a reign of twenty-eight years, to find her sub- 
jects' good will even grea$ter to  her now than a t  i ts  
commencement. Her life, she said, had been " danger- 
ously shot a t  ; " but her sense of danger was lost in 
sorrow, that one so nearly allied to her as theQueen of 
Scots should be guilty of the crime. So far had she 
herself been from bearing her sister any ill will, that, 
upon discovering Mary's treasonable practices, she 
had written her, that if she would privately con- 
fess them they should be wrnpt np in silence ; and 
now, if the matter had only involvcd dangers t o  
licrself, and not the welfare of her people, she pro- 
tested that she should willingly pardon Mary. 
It was only for her people that she, Elizabeth, 
tlcsired to live; and, ,if her death could bring them 

L 

1 Camden in Kennet, 1-01. ii. p. 526. 



370 HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 1.586. 

a more flourishing condition, or a better Prince, she 
would gladly lay down her life. 

After somewhat more in this strain, she informed 
Parliament that their last Act had reduced her 
to great difficulties; ard, in dwelling upon the sor- 
row felt for Mary, she artfully introduced a circum- 
stance, whichwas well calculated to rouse their utmost 
resentment: telling them, that, it was but a short 
while since she had, with her own eyes, seen and 
read an " oath, by which some persons had engaged 
t o  kill her within a month." This WAS on the 12th 
November, and two days after, (14th,) the Queen sent 
the Commons a message by her Vice-chamberlain, 
Sir Christopher Hatton, requesting them to  consider 
whether they could not devise some gentler expedient, 
by which her commiseration for the Scottish Queen 
might be allowed to operate, and her life be spared.' 
On the Nth ,  after much debate, both Houses unani- 
mouslyanswered, " that they could find no other way;" 
and this brief but stern decision was forthwith carried 
by the Lord Chancellor and the Speaker of the House of 
Commons to  the Queen, who was then at Richmond. 
This communication, it was expected, would elicit 
something direct and definite from Elizabeth; but 
the answer which she gave was one of studied ambi- 
p%y.  " If," said she, addressing the Chancellor, " I 
should say u;t3 you that I mean aot to grant your 

1 MS. Letter, Sir George Warrender's MS. Collection, Amhi- 
bald -T)ouglas to the Master of Gray) 22d Nov., 1586, London. 
Also, Archibald Douglas to the King, 8th December, Warrender 
315S., 1586. 
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petition-by my faith, I should say unto you more 
than, perhaps, I mean; and if I should way unto you 
I mean to  grant your petition, I should then tell you 
more than it ia fit for you to know: and so I must 
deliver you an answer answerless." l 

It was now deemed proper that the captive Queen 
should be informed of these proceedings. Since the 
breaking up of the Court at Fotheringay, she had 
remained there under the custody of Paulet, whose 
letters to Walsingham breathed a personal dislike to  
his prisoner. On the 22d November, Lord Buck- 
hurst, and Mr Beal the clerk of the Privy-council, 
arrived a t  Fotheringay, and comniunicated to her the 
sentence of death, which had been pronounced by the 
Commissioners, its ratification by Parliament, and the 
earnest petition of both Houses for her immediate 
execution. They warned her not to look for mercy; 
spoke severely of her attachment to  the Catholic 
faith, which made her life incompatible with the 
security of the reformed opinions ; and promised her 
the ministrations of a Protestant divine in her last 
hours. The Queen of Scots heard them with the 
utmost tranquillity, and mildly, but firmly, declined 
all such religions assistance. She declared that the 
judgment of the Court was unjust, as  she was inno- 
cent of all consent t o  the plot against Uizabeth's 
life ; but she implored them, in the name of Christ, 
to  permit her to  have the spiritual consolations of her 
Almoner, whom she knew to be in the cmtle, although 
debarred from her presence. For s brief period this 

1 Parliamentary IIistory, vol. ir. p. 208. 
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was granted: but the indulgence was considered too 
great, and he was once more removed. Farther and 
more lgtudied insults were soon offered. On the day 
after the arrival of Buckhurst, Paulet entered her 
chamber without ceremony, and informed her that, as  
she was now no longer to be considered s Queen, but 
a private woman dead in law, the insignia of royalty 
must be dispensed with. Mary replied, that what- 
ever he or his Sovereign might consider her, did not 
much move her; she was an anointed Princess, and 
had received this dignity from God : into his hands 
done would she resign both it and her soul.' As for 
their Queen, she as little acknowledged her for her 
superior, as she did her heretical Council for her' 
judges ; and, in spite of the indignities they offered, 
would die, as she had lived, a Queen. This spiritid 
answergreatly enraged Paulet, who commandedMary's 
attendants to take away the " dais," or cloth of state; 
and, when they refused, called in some of his own 
people, who execnted the order. He  then put on his 
hat, sat down in her presence, and pointing to the 
%illiard-table which stood in the chamber, ordered it 
to  be removed, remarking, that these vain recreations 
no longer became a person in her situation. Such 
brutal and insolent conduct would have disgraced the 
comrfionest jailor in the kingdom; and the man who 
was guilty of &is outrage, could plead no order from 
E l i~abe th .~  

1 Martyre de la Royne D'Escosse. Jebb, vol. ii. pp. 293, 294. 
a Letter of BIary in Jebb, vol, ii. p. 293. Also, Bisselii f i far i~  

Stuartm Acts, p. 210. 



That Princess no& gave orders that the sentence 
against the Queen of Scots should be proclaimed 
to  the people; and, so highly excited were the 
citizens in the metropolis with the real or fancied 
dangers which they had escaped, that the communi- 
cation was received with every mark of public re- 
joicing? To Ma.ry it brought no new pang, so far 
%S life was concerned ; but she became agitated with 
the suspicion that Elizabeth, to avoid the o d i ~ ~ m  of 
;I public execution, would endeavour to have her 
privately assassinated: and this new idea gave her 
the utmost inq~ie tude .~  Nor, if we are to  believe 
Camden: were these ideal terrors. Leicester, he 
affirms, on the first discovery of the conspiracy, had 
given it as his advice that ttMary should be privately 
poisoned; and hadeven sent adivine to  persuadesecre- 
tary Walsingham of the lawfulness of such a course, 
which he, however, utterly rejected and condemned. 
So horrid an accusation against Leicester mould 
require some decided proof, which the historian has 
not given; and it will be afterwards seen, that Wal- 
singham's aversion to  such a course was exceedingly 
short-lived. It was a t  this time that Mav addressed 
her last letter to  Elizabeth, in these touching and 
pathetic terms :- 

" Madam-I bless God with my whole heart, that, 
by means of your final judgment, he is about to  put 
a period to  the wearisome pilgrimage of my life. I 
make no petition that it should be prolonged, having 

1 Lingard, vol. viii. p. 233. 
3 Letter of Nary to the Duke of Guise. Jebb, 334. 
a Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 510. 
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already but too well known its bitternem: I only 
now supplicate your Highness, that, since I cannot 
hope for any favour from those exasperated ministers 
who hold the highest offices in your State, I may 
obtain, from your own sole bounty, these three favours: 

"First, An it would be vain for me to expect a burial 
in England, accompanied by the Catholic rites prac- 
tised by the ancient monarchs, your ancestors and 
mine, and since the sepulchres of my fathers hare 
been broken up and violated in Scotland, I earnestly 
request that, as  soon M my enemies shall have glutted 
themselves with my innocent blood, my body may be 
carried by my servants to he interred in holy ground; 
above all, I could wish in France, where rest the ashes 
of the Queen my most honoured mother. Thus shall 
this poor body, which has never known repose as long 
as it was united t o  my soul, have rest a t  last, when 
it and my spirit are disunited. 

" Secondly, I implore your Majesty, owing to the 
terror I feel for the tyranny of those to whose charge 
you have abandoned me, let me not be put to death 
in secret, but in the sight of my servants and others. 
These persons will be witnesses to my dying in the 
faith, and in obedience to the trne,Chumh; and it will 
be their care to rescue the close of my life and the 
last breathilings of my spirit from the calumnies with 
which they may be assailed by my enemies. 

Thirdly, I request that my servants, who have 
clung to me so faithfully throlighout my many sorrom, 
may be permitted freely to go where they please, a'nd 
to retain the little remembrances which my poverty 
has left them in my will. 
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"I conjure you, Madanl, by the blood of Jesus 
Christ, by our near relationship, by the memory of 
Henry the Seventh our common ancestor, by the 
title of Queen, vhich I bear even to my death, refuse 
me not these poor requests, but assure me of your 
having granted them by a single word under your hand. 

" I shall then die, as I have lived, 
" Your affectionate Sister and Prisoner, 

MARY THE  QUEEN."^ 
No answer was ever returned to  this pathetic ap- 

peal, nor, indeed, is it absolutelycertain that Elizabeth 
ever received it; but, in the meantime, some exer- 
tions to save the Scottish Queen mere made by the 
French King, and by her son the King of Scotland. 
Henry the Third had never, during the long course 
of her misfortunes, exhibited for Mary any feelings 
of personal affection or deep interest, although, 
from political considerations, he had frequently ex- 
poused her cause ; but the idea that a Queen and a, 
near relative should be arraigned, condemned, and 
executed, was so new and appalling, that he deemed 
it imperative to  interfere, and sent Monsieur de Bel- 
lievre his Ambassador to present his regonstrances t o  
the English Queen. After many affected delays, Eliza- 
beth received him in unusual state upon her throne, 
and heard his message with a flashing eye and flushed 
and angry c~untenance.~ She restrained her feelings, 
however, sufficiently- to make a laboured reply, 
pronounced a high encomium upon her own for- 
bearance, promised a speedy and definite answer, 

1 Jebb, vol. ii. pp. 91, 92. November 27. 
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protracted the time for more than a month by the 
most frivolous excuses, and, at last, drove the Ambas- 
sador to declare, that if Mary was-executed his master 
must resent it. The English Queen, fired at this 
threat, demanded whether his master had empowered 
him to use such language ;' and, having found that it 
was warranted by Bellievre's instructions, wrote a 
letter of lofty defialnce to Henry, a'nd dismissed his 
envoy. Aubespine the resident Ambassador renewed 
the attempt; but a pretended plot against the life of 
Elizabeth, which was said to be traced to some of his 
suite, furnished a subject for a new and bitter quarrel, 
and this, for a time, interrupted all amicable relations 
between the two Crowns? 

On the side of Scotland, James' eRorts wcre not 
more successful. This young prince had been early 
informed of the colispiracy by Walsingham, and had 
written to Elizabeth congratulating her upon the dis- 
c o v e r ~ . ~  The English Secretary had employed his 
friend, the Master of Gray, to sound his royal mas- 
ter as to the intended proceedings against the Queen 
of Scots ; and bade that noblemari remind the young 
King, that any mediation for Mary would come with 
a bad grace froni'a Prince whose father had received 
such hard measure at her hands.3 

Toconfirm James in thesefeelings, care had been taken 
to send him an account of the plot, with full extracts 

1 Carte, vol. iii. pp. 613, 614. 
2 loth September. MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Master df Gray to 

Burghley, 10th Sept., 1586. 
3 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Orig. Drnft by l\-alsingha~il, Eopt. 

17, 1586. 
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from the alleged intercepted correspondence of the 
Queen of Scots andBabington. I n  these letters, James 
must have perceived the severe terms in which he was 
spoken of by Mary, and become acquainted with her 
advice given to Lord Claud Hamilton, to seize his 
person and place him under a temporary restraint. 
Such revelations were little calculated to foster or 
preserve any sentiments of affection in a son towards 
a mother whom he had never known. Yet all this 
cannot excuse the coldness and indifference which he 
manifested. Monsieur de Courcelles, who was then 
in Scatlind, received instructions from the French 
Icing to incite the young monarch to interfere for 
Mary; but be replied that his mother was in no danger, 
and as for the 'conspiracy, she must be contented, he 
said, to drink the ale she had brewed. He loved 
her as much as nature and duty bound him; but he 
knew well she bore hiin as little good will as she 
did the Queen of England : her practices had already 
nearly cost him his crown, and he could be well con- 
tent she would meddle with nothing .but prayer and 
serving of God.' 

These selfish and moderate sentiments were far 
from acceptable to the Scottish noblezand people, 
who felt the treatment offered to the mother of their 
sovereign, and the superiority assumed by Elizabeth, 
as a national insult. Angus, Lord Claud Hamilton, 
Huntley, Bothwell, Herries, and all the leading men 
about Court, protested loudly against her insolence ; 

1 4th October. Extract of blousieur Courcelles' Negotiations, 
Baunatyne edition, p. 4. 
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and declared their resolution rather to break into open 
war, than suffer it to proceed to further extren~ity.~ 
On this subject, indeed, the feelings of the nobles had 
become so excited, as to impel them to speak out 
with fierce plainness to the King himself. James, it 
seems, suspected that Elizabeth would send an Am- 
bassador, to persuade him to remain passive, whatever 
extremities might be adoptedagainst his mother; and 
turning to the Earl of Bothwell, a blunt soldier, he 
asked his advice Ghat he should do. If your Majesty, 
said he, suffers the process to proceed, I think, my 
liege, you should be hanged yourself, the day after. 
George Douglas, also, (the same brave and attached 
friend of Mary, who had assisted in her escape from 
Lochleven,) remonstrated in strong terms with his 
royal master; warning him to beware of giving credit 
to the lying tales of some about him, who were the 
pensioned slaves of Elizabeth, and paid to create bad 
blood between him and his parent. "And yet," an- 
swered James, "how is it  possible for me to love her, 
or to approve her proceedings? Did she not write to  
Fontenay, the French Ambassadwr here, that unless 
I conformed myself t o  her widhes, I should have no- 
thing but the Lordship of Darnley ; which was all 
my father had before me ? Has she not laboured to 
take the crown off my head, and set up a Regent? 
I s  she not obstinate in holding a different religion ?"  

For that matter," said Douglas, " she adheres to 
her faith, in which she hath been brought up, as your 

1 Extract of Conmelles' Negotiations, pp. 11, 13. Bannatyne 
Club Edition. 



Majesty doth to yours : and, looking to the character 
of your religious guides, she thinks it better that you 
should come over to  her views, than she to yours." 
"Ay, ay," said the king, "truth it is1 have been brought 
up amid a company of mutinous knavish ministers, 
whose doctrine I could never approve; but yet, I 
know my religion to be the true one." 

I n  the mean time, the alarming news from England, 
and the representations of the French King, convinced 
James, that the Question was no longer as  to the im- 
prisonment, bn2, the life of Mary; and the moment he 
embraced this idea, his whole conduct changed. He 
wrote a letter of strong and indignant remonstrancc 
to Elizabeth, and despatched it by Sir William Keith, 
who was instructed to express himself boldly, and 
without reserve upon the subject. He, at the same 
time, and by the same Ambassador, addressed a 
threatening note to Walsingham, whom he considered 
his mother'sgreatest enemy; and he comma~ded Keith, 
on his arrivd a t  the English Court, to cooperate with 
the French Ambassador in all his efforts for the 
safety of the unhappy Princess, whose fate seemed 
t o  be so fast approaching He had alreagy written 
strongly t o  Archibald Donglas, his Ambassador a t  
the Engliah Court.' But it was suspected, on good 
grounds, that Douglas was wholly in the hands of 
EIizabeth and Walsingham ; and currently said, that 

1 Appendix to Robertson's History of Scotland, No. XLIX. 
King Jmnes to  Arehibald Douglas, October 1586 ; also same, 
No. L., Archibald Douglas to the King, 16th Oct. 2586. 
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a s  he had been a t  the father's murder, he would have 
his hand as deep in the mother's death? 

On Keith's arrival a t  the English Court, Eliza- 
beth and her ministers attempted to frustrate 
the object of his mission, by the usual weapons of 
delay and dissimulation. When a t  last admitted, 
the Queen affected the utmost solicitude for Mary's 
life; but represented herself as driven to estremi- 
ties by the remonstrances of her ministers, and 
the fears of her people. " And yet," said she, turning - 
t o  the Ambassador, "I swear by the living God, that 
I would give one of my own arms to be cut off, so 
that any means could be found for us both to live 
in a~sur ince .~  I have already," she continued, "saved 
her life, when even her own subjects craved her death; 
and now, judge for yourselves which is most just, thaf; 
I who am innocent, or she who is guilty, should suffer."' 
Repeated interviews took place, and Elizabeth on one 
occasion declared, that no human power should ever 
persuade her to  sign the warrant for Mary's.sxecution; 
but in the mean time, the sentence against her had been 
made public. Leicester, Burghley, and Walsingham, 
advised her death. The people, alarmed by reports of 
the meditated invasion by Spain, and new plots against 

Lodge$ Letters, vol. ii. (8vo edit.) p. 293. Master of Gray 
to Archibald Douglas, 9th Dec. 1586. 

S 5th November. MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Keith to Davison, 
5th Nov. 1586. London. 

Sir George Warrender MSS., B. fol. 341., Archibald Douglm 
to James, 8th Dec. 1586. 

MS. Warrender, B. fol. 333., Douglas to thc llastcr of Gray, 
22d Nov. 1586. 
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their Princess, became clamorous on the same sub- 
ject; and James, agitated by the ill success of ICeitB, 
sent him new instructions, with a private letter written 
in passionate and threatening terms? On communicat- 
ing it to the English Queen, she broke into one of 
those sudden and tremendous paroxysms of rage, 
which sometimes shook the Council-room, and made 
thehearts of her ministersquail beforeher. I t  was with 
the greatest difficulty that she was prevented from 
chasing Keith, who had spoken with great boldness, 
from her presence. But Leicester her favourite at 
last appeased her; and, on the succeeding day, she 
dictated a more temperate reply to the young King. 
On his side also, James repented of his violence, and, 
unfortunately for his own honour, was induced to  
adopt a milder tone; to  write an apologetic letter to  
Elizabeth; and to despatch the Master of Grajy and 
Sir Robert Melvil, with instructions, to explain that 
his "meaning, in all that had hitherto been done," was 
modest and not mena~ing.~ Nothing could be more self- 
ish and ~usillanimous than such conduct. TheScottisll 

6 
nation and the nobility were loud in their expressions 
of indignation. Eager to  avengethe disgraceinflictedon 
their country, the nobles hadalready armed themselves, 
to break across the Border, and take the quarrel into 
their own hands ; but the King, who had received a 
private communication from Walsingham? was think- 

R7arrender MSS., B. 341., Doirglm to the King, 8th Dec. 1586. 
' . 4 MS. Letter, Copy, Warrender MSS., B. fol. 336., King 
James to Elizabeth, 15th Dec. 1586. 

3 Warrender MSS., B. fol. 334. A 1\/Iemorial of certain IIead~ 
to bo communicated to the T~ord Pecretary of Scotland. 
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ing more about his succession to the' English Crown 
than the peril of his parent : and, intimidated by the 
violence of Elizabeth, judged it better to conciliate 
than exasperate. It is difficult to believe that Ja~nes  
had any very deep desire to save his mother's life, 
when he selected so bme and unworthy an intercessor 
as the Master of Gray. The King must have known 
well that this manhad alreadybetrayed her,that he was 
a sworn adherent of Elizabeth, and that Mary's safety 
or return to power and influence brought danger to this 
envoy himself. So fully were these Gmy's feelings, 
that, in a letter to  his friend Archibald Douglas, 
written as far back as October l l t h ,  he described 
" any good to Mary as a staff for their own heads ;" 
and assured him, "he cared not although she were 
out of the way."' The result was exactly what miglit 
have been anticipated: Gray on his arrival at the 
English Court, (29th December,) in his public con- 
ferences with Elizabeth and her ministers, and in the 
open despatches intended for the eyes of the Scottish 
Council, exhibited great apparent activity and interest 
in the cause of the Scottish Queen.' But this was all 
unreal: for secretly he betrayed her ; coijperated wit11 
Archibald Douglas in his enmity; whispered in Eliza- 
beth's ear the significant proverb, " The dead don't 
bite;" persuaded her, that although there was much 
clamour, there was little sincerity in his master's 

1 Lodge, vol. ii. 8vo edition, p. 289. See also Murdin, pp. 
573, 576. 

Robertson's Appendix, No. L. A Memorial for his Majesty, 
by the Master of Gray, 12tl1 January, 1586-7. , 
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remonstrances; and notwithstanding the honed en- 
deavours of Sir Robert Melvil against his base efforts, 
encouraged her to proceed to those extremities which 
she was willing, yet afraid to  perpetrate? 

I n  her first interview with these new Ambassadors, 
Elizabeth received their offers with her characteristio 
violence. They proposed, that Mary should demit 
her right of succession to  the English Crown to her 
son. "How is that possible?'' said the Queen; "she is 
declared 'inhabil' and can convey nothing." "If she 
have no rights," replied Gray, "yonr Majesty need not* 
fear her; if she have, let her assign them to her son, 
in whom will then be placed the full title of succes- 
sion to your Highness." "What," said Elizabeth, with 
a loud voice and great oath ; "get rid of one, and have 
a worse in her place ? Nay, then I put myself in a 
more miserable case than before. By God's Passion, 
that were to  cut mine own throat; and for a duchy 
or an earldom to  yourself, you, or such as you, would _ 
cause some of your desperate knaves to kill me. No, 
by God ! your master shall never be in that place." 
Clray then craved, that Mary's life might a t  least be 
spared for fifteen days, to  give them time to commu- 
nicate with the King: but this she peremptorily re- 
fused. Melvil implored her to give a respite, were i t  
only for eight days. "No," said Elizabeth, rising up, 
and impatiently flinging out of the apartment, " not 
for an hour."' After such a reception, it was impos- 

1 Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 533. 
2 Robertsods Appendix, No. L. : Memorial of the Master of 

Qryy, 12th January, 1586-7. 



354 HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 168G-7.. 

sible not to anticipate the worst; and although, on a 
succeeding occasion, the Queen appeared somewhat 
mollified, the Ambassadors left her with the conviction, 
that fears for herself, and not any lingering feelings 
of mercy towards Mary, were the sole causes of her 
delay. 

I t  was a t  this time that the Scottish King, having 
required the ministers of the Kirk to pray for his 
unhappy mother, then in the toils of her enemies and 
daily expecting death, received a peremptory.refusa1. 
This was the more extraordinary, since James had 
carefully worded his request so as to remove, as hc 
thought, every possibility of opposition ; but finding 
himself deceived, he directed Archbishop Adamson 
to offer up his prayers.for the Queen, in the High 
Church of the capital. To his astonishment he found, 
on entering his seat, that one of the recmamt ministers, 
named Cowper, had preoccupied the pulpit. Thc 
King addressed him from the gallery, told him that 
the place had been intended for another ; but added; 
that if he would pray for his mother, he might remain 
where he was. To this, Cowper answered, that hc 
would do as the Spirit of God directed him ; a signi- 
ficant reply to all who knew the history of the times, 
and certainly amounting to a refusal. A scene of 
confusion ensued. James commanded Cowper to 
come down from the pulpit : he resisted. The ropal 
guard sprang forward to pull out the intruder; and 
he descended, denouncing woe and wrath on all who 
held back; declaring too, that this hour would rise up 
in witness against the King, in the great day of the 
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Lord. Adamson then preached on the Christian duty 
of prayer for all men, with such pathetic eloquenc~, 
and so powerfully offered up his intercession for their 
unfortunate Queen, that the congregation separated 
in tears, lamenting the obstinacy of their pastors.' 

Meanwhile, reports were circulated in England, 
which were artfully calculated to inflame the people, 
ancl to excuse severity towards Mary. It n7as sa,id one 
day, that the Spaniards had landed a t  Milford Ha.ven, 
and that the Catholics Iiacl joined them; the next, 
that Fotheringay Castle was attacked, and that the 
Queen of Scots had made her escape; then came 
rlllnours that the northern counties were already 
in rebellion, and that a new conspiracy wa>s on foot 
to slay the Queen and set fire to London? 

Amidst these fictitious terrors, the Privy-counciI 
f ~ d d  repeated meetings, and pressed Elizabeth to give 
her warrant for the execution ; Leicester, Burghley, 
and Walsingham, entreated, argued, and remonstrated, 
but she continued distracted and irresolute between 
the odium which must follow the deed and iw ne- 
cesdldty; at  last, amid her half sentences and dark 
hints, they perceived that their mistress wished Mary 
to be put to  death, but had conceived a hope they 
would spare her the cruelty of commanding it, and 
find some secret way of despatching her; she even 
seenied to think, that if their oath to "the association'' 
for her protection did not lead to  this, they had pro- 

1 Spottiswood, p 334. 
Caniden in Kexihet, vol. ii. p. 533. Ellis's Letters, 2d Series, 

yol. iii. pp. 106, 109. 
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mised much, but actnally done nothmg. From such 
an iiiterpretation of their engagement however they 
all shrunk. The idea of private assassination was ab- 
horrent, no doubt, to their feelings; but they suspected, 
also, that Elizabeth's only object was to  shift the re- 
sponsibility of Mary's death from hcrshouldersto theirs ; 
and that nothing warns more likely than that, the mo- 
ment they had fulfilled her wishes, sheshould turn round, 
and accuse then1 of acting without orders. Mean- 
while, she hecaille hourly more unquiet, forsook her 
wonted amusements, courted solitude, and often wa's 
heard muttering to herself a Latin sentence taken 
from some of those books of Emblemata, or Aphor- 
isms, which were the fashion of the day: Azct fe.1. 

nzltferi; ne feriarc, feri.' This continued till the 
1st  of February, when the Queen sent for Mr Davisoa 
the secretary a t  ten in the morning. On arriving a t  
the Palace, he found that the Lord Admiral Howard 
had been conversingwith Elizabeth on the old point, the 
Scottish Queen's execution; and had received orders to  
send Secretary Davison to her with the warrant, which 
liad already been drawn up by Bnrghley the Lord Trea- 
surer: and lay in his possession unsigned. Davison 
hasted to his chamber, and coming ii~sta~ntly back with 
it, and some other papers in his hand, was called in by 
Eliza,beth, who, after some talk on indifferent topics, 
asked him what papers he had with him. He replied, 

1 Either strike or be stricken; strike lest thou be stricken. 
Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 534. 

Wdigula, C. is.  fol. 470. For a, minute and interesting ac- 
count of the whole proceedings of ]Bavison, see Sir ITarris Nicolas' 
Life of Davison, pp. 79, 105. 
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divers warrants for her signature. She then inquirecl 
whetherhe had seen the Lord Admiral, and had brought 
the warrant for the Scottish Queen's execution. He  
cleclared he had, and delivered it into the Queen's 
hand; upon which she rea,d i t  over, called for pen and 
ink, deliberately signed it, and then looking up askecl 
him whether he was not heartily sorry she had done so. 
To this bantering question he replied gravely, that 
he preferred the death of the guilty before that of the 
innocent, and conld not be sorry that her Majesty 
took the only course to  protect her person from immi- 
ncnt danger. Elizabeth then commanded him to  take 
the warrant to the Chancellor and have it sealed, with 
her orders that i t  should be used as secretlyas possible; 
and by t,he way, said she, relapsing again into a jocn- 
lar tone, "you may call on Walsingllam and show i t  
him : I fear the shock will kill him outright." She 
added that a public execution must be avoided. It 
should be done, she said, not in the open green or court . 
of the castle, but in the hall. I n  conclusion, she for- 
bade him absolutely to troubleher anyfarther or let her 
hear Lnymore till it was done; she, for herpart,having 
performed all that in law or reason could be required.' 

The secretary now gathered up his papers, and was 
taking his leave., when Elizabeth stayed him for a 
short space; and complained of Paulet and others, who 
might have eased her of this burden. Even now, 
said she, it might be so done, that the blame might 
be removed from myself, would you and Walsingham 

4.. 

1 Davison's Defence, drawn up by himself, in Caligula, C .  ix. 
f ~ l .  470, printed by Nicolas. Life of D~vison, Appendix A. 
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write jointly, and sound Sir Amiss anclSirDrewDrury 
upon it. To this Davisonnconsented, promising to let 
Sir Amiasknow what she expected athis hands; andthe 
Queen, having again repeated in ail earnest tone, that 
the matter must be closely handled, dismissed him.' 

All this took place on the morning of the 1st of 
February. Illthe afternoon of that day,Davisonvisited 
Walsingham, showed him the warra,nt with Elizabeth's 
signature, consulted with him on the horrid com- 
munication to be made to Paulet and Drury; and 
repairing to the Chancellor, had the Great Seal affixed 
to the warrant; The fatal paper was then left in the 
hands of that dignitary; and Walsingham and Davison 
the same evening wrote and despatched a letter to 
Fotheringay, recommending to her keepers, the secret 
assassination of their royal cllarge, a t  the Queen thleir 
mistress' specia1:request. This letter, taken from an 
original found amongst Paulet's own pa,pers? was in 
these calm and measured terms :- 

" After our hearty:commendations. W e  find by 
speech lately uttered by her Majesty, that she doth 
note in you both a lack of that care and zeal for her 
ser~ice, that she looketh for a t  your ha,nds ; in that 
you have not in all this time; of yourselves, (without 
other provocation,) found out some way to shorten 
the life of that Queen; considering the great peril she 
is subject unto hourly, so long as the said Queen shall 
live. Wherein,-besides a lack of lore towards her, 

Nicolus' Life of Davison, p. 84. 
Id., p. 85. Hearno's Robert of Gloucester, vol. ii. p. 676. 
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she noteth greatly, that you have not that care of 
your own particular safeties, or rather of the preser- 
vation of Religion, and the public good and prosperity 
of your country that reason and policy commandeth; 
especially, having so good a warrant and ground for 
the satisfaction of your consciences towards God, and 
the discharge of your credit and reputation towards 
the world, as the oath of " Association ;" which you 
both have so solemnly taken andvowed; and especially 
the matter wherewith she standeth charged being SO 

clearlyand manifestlyprovedagainst her: and therefore 
she taketh it m ~ s t  unkindly that men, professilig that 
love towards her that you do, should in any kind of sort, 
for lack of the discharge of your duties, cast the burden 
upon her; knowing, as you do, her indisposition to 
shed blood, especially of one of that sex and quality, 
and so hear to  hgr in 61ood as  the said Queen is. 

" These respects we find do greatly trouble her 
Majesty, who, we assure you, has sundry times pro- 
tested, that if the regard of the danger of her good 
subjects and faithful servants did not more move her 
than her own peril, she would never be drawn to 
assent to the shedding her blood. W e  thought it 
very meet to acquaint you [with] these speeches lately 
passed from her Majesty, referring the same to your 
good judgments. And so we,coinmit you to the prc- 
tection of the Almighty. Your most assured  friend^, 

" FRANCIS WALSINGHAM. 
" WILLIAM DAVISON. 

London, Febniary lst, 1586."' 

1 Robert of Gloucester's Chronicle, by JyIearne, vol. ii. p. 674. 
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With the letter, Davison sent an earnest injunctioll 
that it should be committed to  the flames; promising 
for his part to burn, or as he styled it, "make 8 
heretic" of the answer. Cruel and morose, however, 
as Paulet had undoubtedly been to Mary, he was not 
the common murderer which Elizabeth took him to  
be, and refused, peremptorily, to  have any hand in her 
horrid purpose. He  received the letter on the 2d of 
February, at  five in the afternoon, and a t  six the same 
evening, having communicated it to Drury, returned 
this answer to Walsingham. 

"Your letters of yesterday, coming to my hands 
this present day a t  five in the afternoon, I would not 
fail, according to your directions, to  return my answer 
with all possible speed ; which [I] shall deliver unto 
you with great grief and bitterness of mind, in that 
I am so unhappy to  have liven to see this unhappy 
day, in the which I am required, by direction from 
my most gracious Sovereign, to do an act which God 
and the law forbiddeth. My good livings and life 
are at  her Majesty's disposition, and I am ready t o  
lose them this next morrow, if it shall so please her: 
acknowledging that I hold them as of her mere and 
gracious favour. I do not desire them to  enjoy them 
but with her Highness' good liking; but G-od forbid 
that I should make so foul a shipwrack of my con- 
science, or leave m great a blot to my poor posterity, 
to shed blood without law and wa'rrant. Trusting that 
her Majesty, of her accustomed clemency, will take 
this my dutiful answer in good part."' * * * 

1 I-Tearne's Robert of Glonwster, vol. ii. p. 675. 
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This refusal, as we have seen, was written on the2d 
February, in the evening, at Fotheringay ; and, next 
morning, (the 3d, Friday,) Davison recei$'eclanearlyand 
hasty summonsfromElizabeth, who called him into her 
chamber, and inquired if he had been with the warrant 
to the Chancellor's. He said he had ; and she asked 
sharply why he had made such haste. " I obeyed 
your Majesty's commands," was his reply; <'and deemed 
it  no matter to be dallied with."-" True," said she, 
"yet methinks the best and safest way would be t o  
have it otherwise handled." He answered to this, 
that, if it was to be done at 41, the honourable way 
was the safest;' and the Queen clismissed him. But 
by this time the warrant, with the royal signature, 
was in the hands of the Council; and on that day 
they addressed a letter, enclosing it, to the Earl of 
Shrewsbury, .This letter was signed by Burghley the 
Lord Treasurer, Leicester, Hunsdon, Knollys, Wal- 
singham, Derby, Howard, Cobham, Sir Christopher 
$Hatton, and Davison himself? Yet some fears as to 
the responsibility of sending it away without the 
Queen's knowledge, made them still hesitate to de- 
rrpa,tch it. In  this interval, Paulet's answer arrived; 
and as Walsingham, to whom he had addressed it, 
was sick, (or, as some said, pretended illness,) the 
task of communicating it to Elizabeth fell on Davison. 
She read it with symptoms of great impatience; and, 
breaking out into passionate expressions, declared 
that she hated those dainty, nice, precise fellows, who 

1 Davison's Apology, in Nicolas' Life, Appendix A. 
2 Ellis's Letters, 2d series, vol. iii. pp. 11 1, 11 2. 
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pronlised much, but performed nothing: casting all the 
burden on her. But, she added, she would have it done 
without him, by Win@eld. Who this new assassin 
was, to whom the Queen alluded, does not appear.' 

The Privy-council, meanwhile, had determined t o  
take the responsibility of sending off the warrant for 
the execution upon themselves; and, for this purpose, 
intrusted it to Beal the clerk of the Council; who, 
on the evening of Saturday the 4th of February, ar- 
rived with it a t  the seat of the Earl of Kent; antl, next 
day, being Sunday, proceeded to Fotheringay and coin- 
mtmicated it to Sir Amias Paulet and Sir Drew 
Drury.' Intelligence was thea sent to the Earl of 
Shre~t-sbury, Grand Marshal of Engla,nd, who lived a t  
no great distance from Fotheringay; and, on Tuesday 
morning, the 7th February, this nobleman and the Earl 
of Kent came to the castle with several persons who 
were to give .directions or to be employed in the 
approaching tragedy. For some days before this, 
Mary's servants had suspected the worst; but the pre- 
parations which now took place, and the arrival of so 
~na~nystrangers, t,hrew them into despair. 011 Tuesda.y 
after dinner, a t  two o'clock, the two Earls demanded 
311 audience of 'the Queen of Scots, tvho sent word 
that she was indisposed and in bed; but if the 
matter were of consequence, she would rise and 
receive them. On their reply that it could brook no 
delay, they were admitted after a short interval ; and 
Kent and Shrewsbury coming into the apartment, 

Davisorr's Defence; Nicolas' Life of Dayison, p. 103; and 
'Id. Appendix A. 

La Mort de Ia Royne D'Eecoeee, in Jebb, vol. ii. 11. 512. 
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with Paulet, Drury, and Beal, found her seated at the 
bottom of her bed, her usual place, with her small 
work-table before her? Near her stood her phgrsician, 
Burgoin, aiid her women. When the Earls uncoverecl, 
she received them with her usual tranquil grace ; and 
Shrewsbury, in few words, informed her that his royal 
mistress, Elizabeth, being overcome by the inlportunity 
of her subjects, had given orders for her execution ; 
for which she would now be pleased to hear the war- 
rant. Beal then read the commission; to which she 
listened unmoved aiid without interrupting him. 011 

its conclusioii she bowed her head, and, making the 
sign of the cross, thanked her gracious God that this 
welcome news had, a t  last, come; declaring how 
happy she should be to leave a world where she was 
of no use, and had suffered such continued afflictioii. 
She assured IAFlords that she regarded it as a signal 
happiness, that God had sent her death at  this moment, 
after so many evils and sorrows endured for his 
I-Ioly Catholic Church : "That Church," she con- 
tinued, with great fervour of expression, " for which 
I have been ready, as I have often testified, to lay 
down my life, and to  shed my blood drop by drop. 
Alas," she continued, "I did not think myself worthy 
of so happy a death as this ;hi I acknowledge it as 
a sign of the love of God, and humbly receive it as an 
earnest of my reception into the number of his ser- 
vants. Long have I doubted and speculated for these 
&&teen or nineteen years, from day to day, upon all 
that was about to happen to me. Often have I 

1 Mort de la Royne D'Escosse. Jebb, vol. ii. p. 612. 
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thought on the manner in which the English have 
acted to  imprisoned princes; and, after my frequent 
escapes from such snares as have been laid for me, I 
have scarce ventured to hope for such a blessed ellcl 
as this." She then spoke of her high rank, which 
had so little defended her from cruelty and injus- 
tice : born a Queen, the daughter of a King, the 
near relative of the Queen of England, the grand- 
daughter of Henry the Seventh, once Queen of France, 
and still Queendowager of that kingdom ; and yet, 
what had all this availed her? She had loved Eng- 
land ; she had desired its prosperity, as the next heir 
to that Crown ; and, as far as was permitted to a 
good Catholic, had laboured for its welfare. She had 
earnestly longed for the love and friendship of her 
good sister the Queen; had often informed her of 
coming dangers ; had cherished, as the dearest wish 
of her heart, that for once she should meet her in 
person, and speak with her in confidence ; being well 
assured that, had this ever happened, there would 
have been an end of a11 jea,lousies and dissensions. 
But all had been refused her; her enemies, who still 
lived and acted for their own interests, had kept them 
asunder. She had been treated with ignominy and in- 
justice; imprisoned contrary to all faith and treaties; 
kept a captive for nineteen years; "and, a t  last," 
said she, laying her hand upon the New Testament 
which was on her table, " condemned by a tribunhl 
which had no power over me, for a crime of which P 
here solemnly declare I am innocent? I have neither 

La Mort de la Royne D'Escosse, p. 618. 



invented, nor consented to, noi pursued any conspi- 
racy for the death of the Queen of England." The 
Earl of Kent here hastily interrupted her, declaring 
that the translation of the Scriptures on which she 
had sworn was false, and the Roman Catholic version, 
which invalidated her oath. "It is the translation 
in which I believe," answered Mary, " as the vcrsio~z 
of our Holy Church. Does your lordship think my 
oath would be better if I swore on yonr translation, 
which I disbelieve ? " 

She then entreated to be allowed the services 
of her priest and almoner, who was in the castle, 
but had not been permitted to see her since her 
removal from Chartley. He would assist her, she 
said, in her preparations for death, and administer 
that spiritual consolation, which it would be sinful 
to receiie frbh any one of a different faith. To the 
disgrace of the noblemen, the request was refused : 
nor was this to be attributed to any cruelty in Eliza- 
beth, who had given no instructions upon the subject; 
but to the intolerant bigotry of the Earl of Kent, 
who, in a long theological discourse, attempted to con- 
vert her to his own opinions; offering her, in the place 
of her confessor, the services of the Protestant Dean 
of Peterborough, Dr ~letcher,'%hom theyhad brought 
with them. Mary expressed her astonishment at this 
last unexpected stroke of cruelty ; but bore it meekly 
as she had done all the rest, although she peremptorily 
declined all assistance from the Dean. She then in- 
quired what time she should die; and the Earls having 

To-morrow at eight in the morning," made 
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their obeisance, and left the room. On their departure 
she called her women, and bade them hasten supper, 
that she might have time to arrange her affairs. No- 
thing could be more natural, or rather playful, than 
her manner at  this moment. "Corne, come," said she, 
" Jane Kennedy, cease weeping, and be busy. Did I 
not .warn you, my children, that it would come to 
this? and now, blessed be God! it has come, and fear 
and sorrow are a t  an end. Weep not then, nor 
lament, but rejoice rather that you see your poor 
mistress so near the end of all her troubles. Dry 
your eyes, then, and let us pray together." 

Her men-servants, who were in tears, then left thb 
room, and Mary passed some time in devotion with 
her ladies. After which she occupied herself i11 
counting the money which still remained in her 
Cabinet; dividing it into separate sums, which she 
intended for her servants ; and then putting each sum 
into a little purse with a slip of paper, on which she 
wrote, with her own hand, the name of the persoil for 
whom it was destined. Supper was next brought in, of 
which she partooksparingly, as wss usual with her; con- 
versing from time to time with Burgoin her physician, 
who served her ; and sometimes falling into a reverie, 
during which it was remarlied that a sweet smile, as 
if she had heard some good news, would pass over 
her features, lighting them up with an expression of 
animated joy, which,much changed as she was by sor- 
row and ill health, recalled to her poor servants her 
days of beauty. It was with one of these looks that, 
turning to her physician, she said, " Did you remark, 
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Burgoin, h a t  that Earl of Kent said in his talk with 
me: that my life ~vould have' been the death, as my 
death would be the life of their religion? Oh, howl 
glad am I a t  that speech! Here comes the truth at  
last, and I pray you remark it. They told me I tras 
to die, because I had plotted against the Queen; but 
then arrives this Kent, whom they. sent hither to con- 
vert me,andwhat says he? I am to die for myreligion."' 

After supper, she called for her ladies, and asking 
for a cup of wine, drank to thein all, begging them to  
pledge her; which they did on their knees, mingling 
their tears in the cup, and asking her forgiveness if 
they had ever offended her. This she readily gave 
them, bidding them farewell with much tenderness, 
entreating in her turn their pardon, and solemnly 
enjoining them to continue firm in their religion, and 
forget all the&' little jealousies, living in peace and 
love with each other. It would be easier to do so 
now, she added, since Nau, who had been so busy in 
creating dissensions, was no longer with them. This 
was the only subject on which she felt and expressed 
herself with something like keenness ; repeating more 
than once, that he was the cause of her death, but 
adding that she forgave him. She next examined her 
wardrobe, and selected various dresses as presents 
to her servants, delivering them at the moment, with 
some kind expression to ea,ch. She then wrote to her 

lamenting that the cruelty of her enemies 
had refused her the consolation of his presence with 

1 Canlden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 534. Mort de la Royne D'Es- 
iosse. Jebb, vol. ii. p. 625. 
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her in her last moments, imploring him to watch a i d  
pray with her that niglit, and to  send her his absoln- 
tion? After this she made her will ; and lastly, wrote 
to  the king of France. By this time it was two in 
the morning, and finding herself fatigued, she lay 
down, having first washed her feet, whilst her women 
watched and read a t  her bedside. They observed that, 
though quite still and tranquil, she was not asleep, 
her lips moving, as if engaged in secret prayer. I t  
was her custom to have her women read to her a t  
night a portion of the "Lives of the Saints," a book 
she loved much; and this last night she would not 
omit it, but made Jane Kennedy choose a portion, for 
their usual devotions. She selected the life entitled, 
"The Good Thief," which treats of that beautiful 
and aaffecting example of dying faith and divine com- 
passion. "Alas !" said Mary, "he was indeed a very 
great sinner, but not so great as I am. May my 
Saviour, in memory of His Passion, have mercy on 
me, as he had on him, at  the hour of death."' At  
this moment she recollected that she would require 
n handkerchief to  bind her eyes a t  her execution; 
and bidding them bring her several, she selected one 
of the finest, which was embroidered with gold, lay- 
ing it carefully aside. Early in the morning she rose, 
observing that now she had but two hours to live ; 
amnd having finished her toilet she came into her or* 
tory, and kneeling with her women before the altar, 

1 The letters are preserved, and will be fonnd printed in Jebb, 
vol. ii. pp. 627, 630. 

Mort cle la Royne D'Escosse, Jebb, vol. ii. p. 631. 



1586-7. JAXES VI. 399 

where they usually said mass, continued long in prayer. 
Her  physician then, afraid of her being exhausted, 
begged her to take a little bread and wine; which 
she did cheerfully, thanking him, at  the same time, 
for giving her her last meal. 

A knock was now heard at the door, and a mes- 
senger came to say that the Lords waited for her. 
She begged to be allowed a short time to conclude 
her devotions. Soon after, a second summons ar- 
riving, the door was opened, and the sheriff alone, 
with his white wand, walked into the room, proceeded 
fo the altar, where the Queen still knelt, and informed 
her that all was ready. She then rose, saying simply, 
"Let us go ;" and Burgoin her physician, who assisted 
her to rise from her knees, asking her a t  this moment 
whether she would not wish fio take with her the little 
cross antl i m y  crucifix which lay on the altar, she 
aaid : " Oh yes, yes ; it was my intention to have done 
so : many, many thanks for putting me in mind!" She 
then received it, kissed it, and desired Annibal, one 
of her suite, to carry it before her. The sheriff, w&lk- 
i l ~ g  first, now conducted her to  the door of the apart- 
ment ; on reaching vhich, her servants, v h g  had fol- 
lowed her thus far, were informed that they must now 
turn back, as a command had been given that they 
should not accompany their mistress to the scaffold. 
This stern and unnecessary order was received by 
them with loud remonstrances and tears ; but Mary 
only observed, that it was hard not t o  suffer her poor 
servants to be present a t  her dezth. She then took 
the  crucifix in her hand, and bade them affectionately 



400 HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 1586-7. 

adicu ; whilst they clung in tears to her robe, kissed 
her hand, and were with difficulty torn from her, and 
locked up in the apartment. The Queen after this 
proceeded alone down the great staircase, at the foot 
of which she was received by the Earls of Shrewsbury 
and I-Cent, who were struck with the perfect tranqnil- 
lity and unaffected grace with which she met them. 
She was dressed in black satin, matronly, but richly ; 
and with more studied care than.she was commonly 
zccustomed to bestow. She wore a long veil of white 
crape, and her usual high Italian ruff; an Agnus Dei 
tvns suspended by a pomander chain round her neck, 
and her beads of gold hung at her girdle. At the 
bottom of the staircase she found Sir Andrew 
Melvil, her old affectionate Servant, and Master of 
her Household, waiting to  take his last farewell. 
On seeing her he flung himself on his knees a t  her 
feet, and bitterly lamented it should have fallen on 
him to carry to Scotland the heart-rending news of 
his dear mistress7 death. " Weep not, my good Mel- 
vil," said she, "but rather rejoice that an end has a t  
last come to the sorrows of Mary Stuart. And carry 
this news with thee, that I die firm in my religion, 
true to Scotland, true to France. May God, who 
can alone judge the thoughts and actions of men, for- 
vive those who have thirsted for my blood ! He knows h 

nly heart ; He knows my desire hath ever been, that 
Scotland and England should be united. Remember 
me to my son," she added. " Tell him I have done 
nothing that may prejudice his kingdom of Scotland. 
And now, good Melvil, my most faithful servant, once 



more I bid thee faren~ell." She then earnestIy en- 
treated that lier women might still be permitted 
to be with lier at lier death; bnt tlie Earl of Kent 
l~eremptorily refused, alleging that they would onIy 
(listl~rb ever~thing by their lanwntations, and be gniltp 
of something scaiidalons and superstitious ; probably 
dipping their handkerchiefs in her bloocl. "Alas, poor 
souls !" said Mary, " I will give my I!-orcland promise 
they 217iIl do none of these things. I t  tr-ould do tliem 
goocl to bicl me farewell ; and I hope your mistress, 
who is a maiden Queen, hath not giren you so strait a 
commission. She might p a n t  me more than thiz, were 
I a far meaner person. Ancl yet, my Lords, you know 
I am cousin to pour Queen, descended from the blood 
of Henry the Serentli, a married Queen,-of Fmncc, 
and an anointed Queen of Scotland. Surely, ssnrely 
the?- will' not 'deny me this last littie request : my 
poor girls mish only to see me die."' As she said this, 
n few tears were observed to fall, for the first time ; 
and after some consultation, she was permitted to 
have two of her ladies a'nd four of her gentlemen bc- 
side her. She then immediately chosc Enrgoin ,her 
physician, her almoner, surgeon, and apothecary, wit11 

bJane Kennedy and Elizabeth Cnrle. Followecl h? 
them, ancl by Melvil bearing lier train, sllc entered 
the great hall, and walked to the scaffoltl, ~rliich l~acl 
been erected at its upper end. I t  was a raisecl plat- 
folm, about two feet in height, and t\~-elve broad, 
snrrounjed by a rail, and col-ered v-it11 black. Upon it 
were placed a low chair and cnshion, two other seats. 

1 1,n Mort de 1s R o p e  n'Ewosse, Jeblb, TO!. ii. pp. 633, 633. 
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niid the block. The Queen regarded it without the 
least change of countenance, cheerfully inounted the 
steps, ancl sat down with the same easy grace and 
dignity with which she would have occupied her 
throne. On her right mere seated the Earls of ICent 
ailcl Shrewsbury, on her left stood the Sheriffs, and 
before her the two executioners. The Earl of Kent, 
the Dean of Peterborough, Sir Amias Paulet, Sir 
Drew Drury, Beal the Clerk of the Privy-conncil, 
a i d  others stood beside the scaffold; and these, with 
the guards, officers, attendants, and some of the 
neighbouring gentry, who had been permitted to be 
present, made up an assembly of about two hundivd 
in all. neal then read the warrant for her death, 
~vhich she heard with apparent attention ; but those 
near her could see, by the sweet and absent expres- 
sion of her countenance, that her thoughts were far off. 

When it was finished, she crossed herself, and ad- 
dressed a few words t o  the persons round the scaffold. 
She spoke of her rights as a Sovereign Princess, which 
liad been invaded and trampled on, and of her long 
so i~ows and imprisonment ; but expressed the deepest 
thaiikfulness to God, that, being now about to  die for 
her religion, she was permitted, before this company, 
t o  testify that she died a, Catholic, and innocent of 
having invented any plot, or consented to  any practices 
against the Queen's life. " I will here," said she, 

in my last moments, accuse no one; but when I am 
gone, inuch will be discovered that is now hid, and 
the objects of those who bave procured my death be 
more clearly disclosecl to  the world." 
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Fletcher the Dean of Peterborough now came up 
upon the scaffold, and, with the Earl of Kent ancl 
Shrewsbury, made an ineffectual attempt to engage 
Mary in their devotions ; but she repelled all their 
offers, at first mildly, and afterwards, when they in- 
sisted on her joining with them in prayer, in more 
peremptory terms. It was a t  this moment that 
I-Cent, in the excess of his Puritanism, observing her 
intensely regarding the crucifix, bade her renounce 
such antiquated superstitions : " Madam;" said he, 
"that image of Christ serves to  little purpose, if you 
have him not engraved upon your heart."-"Ah," said 
afary, "there is nothing more becoming a dying 
Christian than to carry in his hands this remembrance 
of his redemption. How impossible is it toJhave 
such an object in our hands and keep the heart un- 
moved!'" * '  

The Dean of Peterborough then prayed in English, 
being joined by the noblemen and gentlemen who 
were present ; whilst Ma ry, kneeling apart, repeated 
portions of the Penitential Psalms in b t in , '  and 
afterwards continued her prayers aloud in English. 
By this time, the Dean having concluded, there was 
a deep silence, so that every word was heard. Amid 
this stillness she recommended to God his afllicted 

1 Martyre de Marie Stuart, Royne D'Escosse. Jebb, vol. ii. 
pp. 47,200,307; and same volume, Mort de la Royne D'Escosee, 
(i37. 

w e  psalms, as nilnibered in the reformed version, were xxsi. 
li. and sci.  In the mlgate, Ifiserere nlei Deus, In te, Domine, 
speravi, Qui habitat in adjutorio. Nort de Ia Roync D'Eecos~~,  
in Jebb, ~ o l .  ii. p. 638: Lingard, rol. viii. p. 248. 
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Church, her son the King of Scotland, and Queen 
Elizabeth. She declared that her whole hope rested 
on her saviour; and, although she confessed that she 
was a great sinner, she humbly trusted that the blood 
of that immaculate Lanlb, which had been shed for 
a11 sinners, would wash all her guilt away. She then 
invoked the blessed Virgin and all the saints, inl- 
ploring them to giaant her their prayers wit11 
God ; and fillally declared that she forgave all her 
enemies. I t  wars inlpossible for any one to behold 
her a t  this moment without being deeply affected; 
on her knees, her hands clasped together and raised 
to Heaven, an expression of adoration and divine 
serenity lighting up her features, and upon her lips 
the words of forgireness to her persecutors. As she 
finished her devotions she kissed the crncifix, and, 
inabing the sign of the cross, exclaimed in a clear, 
s~~-ee t  roice, " As thine arms, 0 illy God, were spread 
out upon the cross, so receire me within the arms of 
thy mercy : extend thy pity, and forgire my sins ! " 

She then cheerf~~llg suffered Herself to bc undrcssecl 
by her two women, Jane Kennedy and Elizabeth 
C!nrle, and gently admonished them not to distress her 
by their tears and lanlentations ; putting her finger 
on her lips, and bidding them remember that she had 
promised for them. On seeing the executioner colllc 
UP to offer his assistance, she smiled, ancl p layf i~l l~  
said she had neithcr been used to such grooIus of the 
cl~arnber, nor to undress before so many people. 
Iihen all was ready she kissed her two women, and, 
gi~ing them her last blessing, desired them to leave 
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her, one of them having first bound her eyes with the 
handkerchief which she had chosen for the purpose. 
She then sat down, and, clasping her hands togethe?, 
held her neck firm and erect, expecting that she was 
to be beheaded in the French fashion, with a sword, 
and in a sitting attitude. Those who were present, 
and knew nothing of this misconception, wondered at 
this; and in the pause, Mary, still waiting for the 
blow, repeated the psalm, " I n  thee, 0 Lord, have I 
trusted : let me never be put to confusion."' On 
being made aware of her mistake she instantly knelt 
down, and, groping with her hands for the block, 
laid her neck upon it without the slightest mark of 
trembling or hesitation. Her last words were, " Into 
thy hands I commend my spirit, for Thou hsst re- 
deemed me, 0 Lord God of truth." At this moment 
the tears and'emotions of the spectators had reached 
their height, and appear, unfortunately, to have shaken 
the nerves and disturbed the aim of the executioner, 
so that his first blow was ill directed, and onlywounded 
his victim. She lay, however, perfectly still, and the 
next stroke severed the head from the body. The 
executioner then held the head up and called aloud, 
" God save the Queen'" " So let all Queen Elizabeth's 
enemies perish !" was the prayer of the Dean of Peter- 
borough ; but the spectators were dissolved in tears, 
and one deep voice only answered, Amen. It came 
from the Earl of Keik2 

1 In te, Domine, confido: non confundar in ceteinum. 
2 Mort de la Itoyne D'Escosse, p. 641. Martyre de Marie 

Stuart. Jebb, vol. ii. p. 308. Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 535. 
Ellis's Letters, 2d series, vol. iii. p. 117. 
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An affecting incident now occurred. On removiilg 
the dead body, and the clothes and mantle which lay 
beside it, Mary's favourite little dog, which had fol- 
lowed its mistress to  the scaffold unperceived, was 
found nestling under them. No entreaty could pre- 
vail on i t  to  quit the spot; and it remained lying 
beaide the corpse, and stained in the blood, till for- 
cibly carried away by the attendants.' 

' Mort de la R o p e  D'Escosse, Jebb, vol. ii. p. 641. ell is'^ 
Letters, 2d series, vol. iii. p. 117. 
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